# **ExpandingNEURON's**

# **RepertoireofMechanisms**

# withNMODL

M.L.Hines <sup>1</sup>andN.T.Carnevale <sup>2</sup>

Departmentsof <sup>1</sup>ComputerScienceand <sup>2</sup>Psychology

YaleUniversity

michael.hines@yale.edu

ted.carnevale@yale.edu

Shorttitle:ExpandingNEURONwithNMODL

Anextendedpreprintof: Hines,M.L.andCarnevale,N.T. ExpandingNEURON'srepertoireofmechanismswithNMODL NeuralComputation 12:839-851,2000

# **CONTENTS**

ABSTRACT	3
INTRODUCTION	3
DESCRIBINGMECHANISMSWITH NMODL	4
Example1:apassive"leak"current	4
Example2:alocalizedshunt	9
Example3:anintracellularstimulatingelectrode	11
Example4:avoltage-gatedcurrent	13
Example5:acalcium-activatedvoltage-gatedcurrent	20
Example6:extracellularpotassiumaccumulation	24
Generalcommentsaboutkineticschemes	28
Example7:kineticschemeforavoltage-gatedcurrent	30
Example8:calciumdiffusionwithbuffering	35
Example9:acalciumpump	43
Modelswithdiscontinuities	47
Generalcommentsaboutsynapticmodels	49
Example10:synapsewithexponentialdecay	50
Example11:alphafunctionsynapse	53
Example12:Use-dependentsynapticplasticity	54
Example13:saturatingsynapses	56
DISCUSSION	58
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	59
References	60
INDEX	62

# ABSTRACT

Neuronalfunctioninvolvestheinteractionofelectricalandchemicalsignalsthatare distributedintimeandspace. Themechanismsthatgeneratethesesignalsandregulatetheir interactions are marked by arichdiversity of properties that precludes a "one size fits all" approachtomodeling. This papers how show the model description language NMODL enables the neuronal simulation environment NEURON to accommodate these differences.

# INTRODUCTION

Recentlywedescribed the core concepts and strategies that are responsible formuch of the utility of NEURON as at ool for empirically-based neuronal modeling (Hines and Carnevale 1997). That paper focused on the strategy used in NEURON to deal with the problem of mapping aspatially distributed system into a discretized (compartmental) representation in a manner that ensures conceptual control while at the same time maintaining numerica curacy and computational efficiency. Now we shift our attention to another important feature of NEURON: its special facility for expanding and customizing its library of bio physical mechanisms.

Theneedforthisfacilitystemsfromthefactthatexperimentalistsareapplyinganevergrowingarmamentariumoftechniquestodissectneuronaloperationatthecellularlevel. There is asteady increase in the number of phenomenathatare known to participate in electrical and chemical signaling and that are characterized wellen ought os upportempirically-based simulations. Since the mechanisms that underlie these phenomena differacross neuronal cell class, developmental stage, and species (e.g. chapter 7 in (Johnston and Wu 1995); also see (McCormick 1998)), a simulator that is useful in research must provide a flexible and powerful means for incorporating new biophysical mechanisms in models. It must also help the user remain focused on the model instead of programming. Such a means is provided to the NEURON simulation environment by NMODL, a high-level language that was originally implemented for NEURON by Michael Hines and laterext ended by him and Up inder Bhallato generate codes uitable for linking with GENESIS (Wilson and Bower 1989).

AbriefoverviewofhowNMODLisusedwillclarifyitsunderlyingrationale.Thefirststep istowriteatextfile(a" modfile")thatdescribesamechanismasasetofnonlinearalgebraic equations,differentialequations,orkineticreactionschemes.Thedescriptionemploysasyntax thatcloselyresemblesfamiliarmathematicalandchemicalnotation.Thistextispassedtoa translatorthatconvertseachstatementintomanystatementsinC,automaticallygeneratingcode thathandlesdetailssuchasmassbalance foreachionicspeciesandproducingcodesuitablefor eachofNEURON'sintegrationmethods.Theoutputofthetranslatoristhencompiledfor computationalefficiency.Thisachievestremendousconceptualleverage andsavingsofeffortnot onlybecausethehigh-level mechanismspecificationismucheasiertounderstandandfarmore compactthantheequivalentCcode,butalsobecauseitsparestheuserfromhavingtobother withlow-levelprogrammingissueslikehowto"interface"thecodewithothermechanismsand withNEURONitself.

Because of the unusual structure and features of the NMODL language, it would be futile to attempt explanation without illustration. Therefore this paper is organized around a sequence of examples of increasing complexity and sophistication that introduce important to pics in the context of problems of scientificinterest. These examples show how to take advantage of the leverage provided by NMODL for creating representations of biophysical mechanisms.

# **DESCRIBINGMECHANISMSWITH NMODL**

NMODLisadescendantoftheMOdelDescriptionLanguage (MODL (Kohnetal.1994) ), whichwasdevelopedatDukeUniversitybytheNationalBiomedicalSimulationResource projectforthepurposeofbuildingmodelsthatwouldbeexercisedbytheSimulationControl Program(SCoP (Kootseyetal.1986) ).NMODLhasthesamebasicsyntaxandstyleof organizingmodelsourcecodeintonamed blocksasMODL.Variabledeclaration blocks,suchas PARAMETER, STATE,and ASSIGNED,specifynamesandattributesofvariablesthatareusedin themodel.Otherblocksaredirectlyinvolvedinsettinginitialconditionsorgeneratingsolutions ateachtimestep(theequationdefinition blocks,e.g. INITIAL, BREAKPOINT, DERIVATIVE, KINETIC, FUNCTION, PROCEDURE).Furthermore,Ccodecanbeinsertedinsidethemodel sourcecodetoaccomplishimplementation-specificgoals.

NMODLrecognizesallthekeywordsofMODL,butwewilllimitthisdiscu ssiontothose thatarerelevanttoNEURONsimulations.Wewillalsoexaminethechangesandextensionsthat werenecessarytoendowNMODLwithNEURON-specificfeatures.Togivetheseideasreal meaning,theywillbepresentedinthecontextofNMODLtextformodelsofthefollowing mechanisms:

- apassive"leak"currentandalocalizedtransmembraneshunt(densitymechanismsvs.point processes)
- anelectrodestimulus(discontinuousparameterchangeswithvariabletimestepmethods)
- voltage-gatedchannels(differentialequationsvs.kineticschemes)
- ionaccumulationinarestrictedspace(extracellularK
- buffering, diffusion, and active transport (Ca <sup>2+</sup>pump)
- synaptictransmission

Thispapermakesextensiveuseofspecializedconceptsandterminologythatpertainto NEURONitself;fordefinitivetreatmentofthesethereaderisreferredtopriorpublications ((Hines1984;Hines1989;Hines1993;Hines1994;HinesandCarnevale1995) ,butparticularly (HinesandCarnevale1997) )andNEURON'son-linehelpfiles,whichareavailablethrough linksathttp://www.neuron.yale.edu.

+)

# Example1:apassive"leak"current

Apassive"leak"current isoneofthesimplestbiophysicalmechanisms.Becauseitis distributedoverthesurfaceofacell,itisdescribedintermsofconductanceperunitareaand currentperunitarea,andthereforebelongstotheclassof"densitymechanisms" (Hinesand Carnevale1997).Otherdensitymechanisms includeionaccumulationinarestrictedspaceand activetransport.

Figure 1 illustrates abranch of an euron with a distributed leak current (left) and the equivalent circuit of a model of the passive current mechanism (right): a distributed constant conductance  $g_{leak}$  inseries with a voltage source  $E_{leak}$  equal to the equilibrium potential for the ionic current. The leak current density is given by  $i_{leak} = g_{leak}(V_m - E_{leak})$ , where  $V_m$  is the membrane potential. Because this is a model of a physical system that is distribute



Figure1

this is a model of a physical system that is distributed in space, the variables  $i_{leak}$  and  $V_m$  and the parameters  $g_{leak}$  and  $E_{leak}$  are all functions of position.

LetusexaminetheNMODLtextforanimplementationofthismodel(Listing1).Inline commentsstartwithacolonandterminateattheendoftheline.NMODLalsoallowscomment blocks,whicharedemarcatedbythekeywords COMMENT . . ENDCOMMENT.Inpassingit shouldbenotedthatasimilarsyntaxcanbeusedtoembedCcode ina modfile,e.g.

```
VERBATIM
/* c statements */
ENDVERBATIM
```

Thestatementsbetween VERBATIMand ENDVERBATIMwillappearwithoutchangeintheoutput filethatiswrittenbytheNMODLtranslator.Althoughthisshouldbedoneonlywithgreatcare, VERBATIMcanbeaconvenientandeffectivewayforindividualuserstoaddnewfeaturesto NEURONoreventoemployNEURONasa"poorman'sCcompiler."

```
: A passive leak current
NEURON {
     SUFFIX leak
     NONSPECIFIC CURRENT i
     RANGE i, e, g
}
PARAMETER {
     q = 0.001
                 (siemens/cm2)
                                 < 0, 1e9 >
     e = -65
                 (millivolt)
}
ASSIGNED {
     i
       (milliamp/cm2)
        (millivolt)
     v
}
BREAKPOINT { i = g^*(v - e) }
           Listing1. leak.mod
```

Namedblocks havethegeneralform *KEYWORD*{ *statements*},andkeywords areallupper case.User-definedvariablenames inNMODLcanbeupto20characterslong.Eachvariable

mustbedefined beforeitisused.Thevariablenameschosenforthisexamplewere i, g,and e fortheleakcurrent,itsspecificconductance,anditsequilibriumpotential,respectively.Some variablesarenot"owned"byanymechanismbutareavailabletoallmechanisms ;theseinclude v, celsius, t, dt, diam,and area.

Asanaside, it should be noted that use of dt in NMODL is neither necessary norgood practice. Prior to the availability of variable timestep methods in NEURON, analytic expressions involving dt were frequently used for efficient modeling of voltages ensitive channels tates. This idiomis now built-in and employed automatically when such models are described in their underlying derivative form.

### The NEURONblock

Theprincipalextension thatdifferentiatesNMODLfromitsMODL originsisthatthereare separateinstancesofmechanismdata, withdifferentvaluesofstatesandparameters, in each segment (compartment) of a model cell. The NEURON block was introduced to make this possible by defining what the model of the mechanism looks like from the "outside" when there are many instances of the models prinkled at different locations on the cell. The specifications entered in this block are independent of any particular simulator, but the detailed "interface code" requirements of a particular simulator determine whether the output Cfile issuitable for NEURON (NMODL) or GENESIS (GMODL). For this paper, we assume the translator is NMODL and that it produces code accepted by NEURON.

TheactualnameofthecurrentNMODL translatoris nocmodl(nocmodl.exeonthePC). Thistranslatorisconsistentwiththeobject-orientedextensionsthatwereintroducedwithversion 3ofNEURON.However,theoldertranslatorwhichpredatedtheseextensionswascalled nmodl,andwewillusethegenericnameNMODLtorefertoNEURON-compatibletranslators.

The SUFFIXkeywordhastwoconsequences.First, it dentifies this to be adensity mechanism, which can be incorporated into a NEURON cables ection by an insert statement (see Usage below). Second, it tells the NEURON interpreter that the names for variables and parameters that be long to this mechanism will include the suffix \_\_leak, so there will be no conflict with similar names in other mechanisms.

Thestipulation that is a NONSPECIFIC\_CURRENTalso has two consequences. First, the value of i will be reckoned in charge balance equations. Second, this current will make no direct contribution to mass balance equations (it will have no direct effect on ion ic concentrations). We will show how to model mechanisms with specificion ic current sthat can change concentrations in later examples.

The RANGEkeywordassertsthatthevalues of i, e, and garefunctions of position. In other words, each of these variables can have a different value in each of these gments that make up a section. In the NEURON interpreter, manipulation of these variables uses the RANGE variable syntax (Hines and Carnevale 1997). The alternative to RANGE is GLOBAL, which is discussed below in *The PARAMETER block*.

Themembranepotential visnotmentionedinthe NEURONblockfortworeasons.First, vis oneofthevariablesthatareavailabletoallmechanisms.Second,itisnotnecessarytoassertthat visa RANGEvariablebecausemembranepotentialisa RANGEvariablebydefault.However,for modelcompletenessinnon-NEURONcontexts,andtoenableunits checking, vshouldbe declaredinthe ASSIGNEDblock(seebelow).

### Variabledeclarationblocks

As noted above, each user-defined variable must be declared before it is used. Even if it is named in the NEURON block, it still has to appear in a variable declaration block .

Mechanismsfrequentlyinvolveexpressionsthatcontainamixofconstants andvariables whoseunits belongtodifferentscalesofinvestigationandwhichmaythemselvesbedefinedin termsofother, more "fundamental" units. This can easily lead to arithmetic errors that can be difficult to isolate and rectify. Therefore NMODL has special provisions for establishing and maintaining consistency of units. The name sused for the sespecifications are based on the UNIX units database. Avariable whose units are not specified is taken to be dimensionless.

Theusermayspecifywhateverunitsareappropriateexceptforvariablesthataredefinedby NEURONitself.Theseinclude v(millivolts), t(milliseconds), celsius(°C), diam( $\mu$ m),and area( $\mu$ m<sup>2</sup>).Currents,concentrations,andequilibriumpotentialscreatedbythe USEION statementalsohavespecificunits(see **The NEURONblock** in **Example6:extracellular potassiumaccumulation** below).Inthisparticulardensitymechanism, iand garegivenunits of currentperunitarea(milliamperes/cm<sup>2</sup>) and conductance perunitarea(siemens/cm<sup>2</sup>), respectively.

#### The parameterblock

Variableswhosevaluesarenormallyspecifiedbytheuserareparametersandaredeclaredin a PARAMETERblock .IntheNEURONgraphicaluserinterface(GUI) ,aparameterisviewed usingaspecialfieldeditorwhichisdesignedtofacilitatetheentryofnewvalues(see Usage below).

Whileparametersgenerallyremainconstantduringasimulation,theycanbechangedinmidrunifnecessarytoemulatesomeexternalinfluenceonthecharacteristicpropertiesofamodel. Toavoidconfusion,suchchangesshouldonlybeperformedthroughthehocinterpreterorthe GUI,andnotbystatementsinthe modfile.

The PARAMETERblockinthisexamplegivesdefaultvaluesof0.001siemens/cm<sup>2</sup>and-65 mVto gand e,respectively.Thepairofvaluesinanglebracketsspecifiesthedefaultminimum andmaximumvalues for gthatcanbeenteredintothefieldeditoroftheGUI.Inthiscase,we merelyensurethatconductance gcannotbenegative.

Because gand eare PARAMETERs, their values are visible at the hoclevel and can be overridden by hoccommands or altered through the GUI. PARAMETERS or dinarily have global scope, which means that changing the value of a PARAMETER affects every instance of that mechanism through out an entire model. However, the NEURON block for this particular mechanisms tipulates that gand eare RANGE variables, so they can be given different values in every segment where the leak current has been inserted.

# The ASSIGNEDblock

The ASSIGNEDblock is used for declaring two kinds of variables : those that are given values outside the modifile, and those that appear on the left hand side of assignments takements within the modifile. The first group includes variables that are potentially available to every mechanism , such as v, celsius, t, and ionic variables (ionic variables are discussed in connection with **The NEURON block** in **Example6: extracellular potassium accumulation** below). The second group specifically omits variables that are unknowns in a set of simultaneous linear or nonlinear

algebraic equations, or that are dependent variables in differential equations or kinetic reaction schemes, which are handled differently (see **Example 4: avoltage-gated current** below for a discussion of the STATEBlock).

Mechanism-specific ASSIGNEDvariablesare RANGEvariables by default. For a mechanism-specific ASSIGNED variable to be visible outside of the modfile, it must be declared as RANGE or GLOBAL in the NEURON block. ASSIGNED variables that are not "owned" by any mechanism (v, celsius, t, dt, diam, and area) are not mentioned in the NEURON block.

The current is not a state variable because the model of the leak current mechanism does not define it interms of a differential equation or kinetic reactions cheme; that is to say, i has no dynamics of its own. Furthermore it is not an unknown in a set of equations. Instead, it is calculated by direct assignment. Therefore it is declared in the ASSIGNED block.

Forsimilarreasonsmembranepotential visalsodeclaredinthe ASSIGNEDblock.Although membranepotentialisunquestionablyastatevariable inamodelofacell,totheleakcurrent mechanismitisadrivingforceratherthanastatevariable .

#### Equationdefinitionblocks

Inthissimplemodel there is only one equation, which is defined in the BREAKPOINT block .

#### The breakpointblock

Thisisthemaincomputationblock inNMODL.ItsnamederivesfromSCoP ,inwhich simulationsareexecutedbyincrementinganindependentvariablethroughasequenceofstepsor "breakpoints" atwhichthedependentvariablesofthemodelarecomputed and displayed (Kohn etal. 1994) .

Asingleformulaisallthatisnecessaryfortheleakcurrentmodel.Asweshallseelater, morecomplicatedmodelsmayrequireinvokingNMODL'sbuilt-inroutinestosolvefamiliesof simultaneousalgebraicequationsorperformnumericintegration.

#### Usage

Thefollowinghoccodeillustrateshowthismechanismmightbeused.Notetheuseof RANGEsyntaxtoexaminethevalueof i\_leaknearoneendof cable.

```
cable {
    nseg = 5
    insert leak
    // override defaults
    g_leak = 0.002 // S/cm2
    e_leak = -70 // mV
}
// show leak current density near 0 end of cable
print cable.i leak(0.1)
```

Becauseoftheinterfacecodegeneratedasaconsequenceofthe definitionsinthe NEURONblock,the leakmechanismwillappear withtheotherdensitymechanismsinthe Distributed Mechanism Managerand Viewerwindows.Thisisillustratedin Figure2,whichshowsthe Distributed Mechanism Inserter. Thecheckmarksignifiesthatthe leakmechanismhasbeen insertedintothesectionnamed cable.





# Example2:alocalizedshunt

Attheoppositeendofthespatialscalefromadistributedpassivecurrentisalocalizedshunt inducedbymicroelectrodeimpalement (Durand1984;Staleyetal.1992) .Ashuntisrestrictedto asmallenoughregionthatitcanbedescribedintermsofanetconductance(orresistance)and totalcurrent, i.e. it is apoint process (HinesandCarnevale1997) .Mostsynapses are also best represented by point processes.

Thelocalized nature of the shuntisemphasized in the cartoon of the neurite (Fig. 3 left). The equivalent circuit of the shunt (right) is similar to the equivalent circuit of the distributed leak current (Fig. 1 right), but here the resistance and current are understood to be concentrated in a single, circumscribed part of the cell. We will focus on how the NMODL code for this model differs from the density mechanism presented earlier.





```
: A shunt current
NEURON {
     POINT_PROCESS Shunt
     NONSPECIFIC_CURRENT i
     RANGE i, e, r
}
PARAMETER {
     r = 1 (gigaohm) < 1e-9, 1e9 >
     e = 0 (millivolt)
}
ASSIGNED {
     i
         (nanoamp)
        (millivolt)
     v
}
BREAKPOINT { i = (0.001)*(v - e)/r }
```

Listing2. shunt.mod

#### The NEURONblock

The NEURONblock identifiesthismechanismasapointprocess, which means that it will be managed in hocusing an object-oriented syntax (see **Usage** below). Making i, e, and r RANGE variables means that each instance of this point process can have separate values for these variables. If a variable is instances of the mechanism.

#### Variabledeclarationblocks

Thesearenearlyi denticaltothe PARAMETERand ASSIGNEDblocksofthe leakmechanism. However, Shuntisapointprocesssoallofitscurrentflowsatonesiteinsteadofbeing distributedoveranarea.Thereforeits iand rareinunitsofnanoamperes(totalcurrent)and gigaohms(0.001 /totalconductanceinmicrosiemens),respectively.

Thiscodespecifies default values for the PARAMETERS rand e. Allowing a minimum value of 10<sup>-9</sup> for r prevents an inadvertent divide by 0 error (infinite conductance) by ensuring that a user cannot set r to 0 in its GUI field editor . This protection, however, only holds for field editors and does not prevent an interpreter statement from setting r to 0 or even an egative value.

#### Equationdefinitionblocks

Liketheleakcurrentmechanism,theshuntmechanismisextremelysimpleandinvolvesno statevariables .Thesingleequationisdefinedinthe BREAKPOINTblock.

#### The BREAKPOINTblock

Thesole"complication"inthisblockisthatthecalculation of includesafactorof0.001to reconciletheunits ontheleftandrighthandsidesofthisassignment(nanoamperesvs.millivolts dividedbygigaohms).Theparentheses surroundingthisconversionfactorareaconventionthat isnecessaryforunitschecking :theydisambiguateitfrommeremultiplicationbyanumber. WhenNEURON'sunitcheckingutility modlunitisusedtochecktheNMODLcodeinListing 2,itwillfindnoerrorsandwillexitwithoutanerrormessage.

```
f:\modfils\leak\shunt>modlunit shunt.mod
model $Revision: 1.1.1.1 $ $Date: 1994/10/12 17:22:51 $
Checking units of shunt.mod
```

f:\modfils\leak\shunt>

Howeveriftheparentheseswereomitted, an errormessage would be emitted that reports inconsistent unit factors.

Anerrormessagewouldalsoresultifparentheses surroundedanumberwhichtheuserintendedtobea quantity,sincetheunitfactorswouldbeinconsistent.

The convention of using single numbers enclosed in parentheses to signify unit conversion factors is simple and minimizes the possibility of mistakes either by the user or by the software. It is important to note that expressions that involvemore than one number, such as "(1+1)", will not be interpreted as conversion factors.

#### Usage

Thishoccodeillustrateshowtheshuntmechanism mightbeappliedtoasectioncalled cable;notetheobject syntaxforspecifyingtheshuntresistanceandcurrent(see (HinesandCarnevale1997)).

```
objref s
// put near 0 end of cable
cable s = new Shunt(0.1)
// not bad for a sharp electrode
s.r = 0.2
// show shunt current
print s.i
```

PointProcessManager	$\times$
Close	
SelectPointProcess	
Show	
Shunt[0]	
at: cable(0.1)	
Shunt[0]	
r (gigaohm) 💉 0.1 🗲	•
e (millivolt) 0 🖨	•
i (nanoamp) 0	



The definitions in the NEURON block of this particular modelenable NEURON's graphical tools to include the Shuntobject in the menusofits Point Process Manager and Viewer windows (Fig. 4). The check mark on the button adjacent to the numeric field for rindicates that the shunt resistance has been changed from its default value (0.2 gig a ohm when the shunt was created by the hoc code immediately above) to 0.1 gig a ohm.

# Example3:anintracellularstimulatingelectrode

Anintracellularstimulatingelectrode issimilartoashuntinthesensethatbotharelocalized sourcesofcurrentthataremodeledaspointprocesses .However,thecurrentfromastimulating electrodeisnotgeneratedbyanopeninginthecellmembranebutinsteadisinjecteddirectlyinto thecell.Thisparticularmodelofastimulatingelectrodehastheadditionaldifferencethatthe currentchangesdiscontinuously ,i.e.itisapulsewithdistinctstartandstoptimes.

```
: Current clamp
NEURON {
     POINT_PROCESS IClamp1
     RANGE del, dur, amp, i
     ELECTRODE_CURRENT i
}
UNITS { (nA) = (nanoamp) }
```

```
PARAMETER {
     del (ms)
                < 0, 1e9 >
     dur (ms)
     amp (nA)
}
ASSIGNED { i (nA) }
INITIAL { i = 0 }
BREAKPOINT {
     at_time(del)
     at time(del+dur)
     if (t < del + dur \&\& t > del)
           i = amp
      } else {
           i = 0
      }
}
```

Listing3. iclamp1.mod

# The NEURONblock

Thismechanismisidentical to the built-in IClamp model. Callingit IClamp lallows the reader to test and modify it without conflict with the existing IClamp point process.

Thismodelofacurrentclampgeneratesarectangularcurrentpulsewhoseamplitude ampin nanoamperes, starttime delinmilliseconds, and duration durinmilliseconds are all adjustable by the user. Furthermore, these parameters are individually adjustable for each separate instance of this mechanism. Therefore they are declared as RANGE variables in the NEURON block.

The current idelivered by IClamplisde clared in the NEURON block to make it available for examination. The ELECTRODE\_CURRENT statement has two important consequences: positive values of i will depolarize the cell (in contrast to the hyperpolarizing effect of positive transmembrane currents), and when the extracellular mechanism is present the rewill be change in the extracellular mechanism is present the extracellular fields is beyond the scope of this paper.

# Equationdefinitionblocks

# The BREAKPOINTblock

The logicfordeciding whether i=0 or i= ampisstraightforward, butthe at\_time() calls needexplanation. Towork properly with variable timestep methods, e.g. CVODE, models that change parameters discontinuously during a simulation must notify NEURON when such events take place. With fixed timestep methods, users implicitly assume that events take place on time step boundaries (integer multiples of dt), and they would never consider defining a pulse duration narrower than dt. Neither eventuality can be left to chance with variable timestep methods. Duringavariabletimestepsimulation,thefirst at\_time()callguaranteesthatatimestepboundarywill beat del-  $\epsilon$ ,where  $\epsilon$ isontheorderof10 <sup>-9</sup>ms. Integrationwillthenrestartfromitsnewinitialconditionat del+  $\epsilon$ .Formoreinformation,see **Discontinuitiesin PARAMETERS**below.

# The INITIALblock

Thecodeinthe INITIALblock is executed when the hocfunction finitialize() is called. Initialization of more complex mechanisms is discussed below in **Example 4: avoltage-gated current** and **Example6: extracellular potassium accumulation**. The initialization here consists of making sure that IClampl.iis 0 when t=0.

PointProcessM	lanager	$\times$
Close		
SelectPoint	Process	
Show		
ICI amp 1[0]		
at: soma(0.5)		
ICI amp 1[0]		
del (ms)	✔ 1	\$
dur (ms)	2	<b>+</b>
dur (ms) amp (nA)	<ul><li>✓ 2</li><li>✓ 0.01</li></ul>	<b>¢</b> <b>\$</b>

### Usage

Regardlessofwhetherafixedorvariabletimestep

Figure5

integratorischosen, IClampllooksthesametotheuser.Ineithercase,acurrentstimulusof 0.01nAamplitudethatstartsat t=1msandlastsfor2mswouldbecreatedbythishoccodeor throughtheGUIpanel (Fig.5).

```
objref ccl
// put at middle of soma
soma ccl = new IClamp1(0.5)
ccl.del = 1
ccl.dur = 2
ccl.amp = 0.01
```

# Example4:avoltage-gatedcurrent

One of the particular strengths of NMODL is its flexibility in dealing withion channels whose conductances are not constant but instead are regulated by factors such as the transmembrane potential gradient and/or the concentrations of ligands on one or both sides of the membrane. Here we will use the well-known Hodgkin-Huxley (HH) delayed rectifier to show how avoltage-gated current can be implemented, and later we will examine a model of a potassium (K <sup>+</sup>) current that depends on both voltage and intracellular calcium concentration.

The delay ed rectifier and all other voltage-gated channels that are distributed over the cell surface are density mechanisms . Therefore their NMODL representations and hocus age will have many similarities to those of the passive leak current presented in Example 1. The following discussion focuses on the significant differences between the models of the delay ed rectifier and the passive leak current.

Inthisexample, membrane potential is in absolute millivolts, i.e. reversed in polarity from the original Hodgkin-Huxley convention and shifted to reflect are sting potential of -65 mV.

```
: HH voltage-gated potassium current
NEURON {
     SUFFIX kd
     USEION k READ ek WRITE ik
     RANGE gkbar, gk, ik
}
UNITS {
     (S) = (siemens)
     (mV) = (millivolt)
     (mA) = (milliamp)
}
PARAMETER { gkbar = 0.036 (S/cm2) }
ASSIGNED {
          (mV)
     v
     ek (mV) : typically ~ -77.5
     ik (mA/cm2)
     gk (S/cm2)
}
STATE \{n\}
BREAKPOINT {
     SOLVE states METHOD cnexp
     gk = gkbar * n^4
     ik = gk * (v - ek)
}
INITIAL {
     : Assume v has been constant for a long time
     n = alpha(v)/(alpha(v) + beta(v))
}
DERIVATIVE states {
     : Computes state variable n at present v & t
     n' = (1-n)*alpha(v) - n*beta(v)
}
FUNCTION alpha(Vm (mV)) (/ms) {
     LOCAL x
     UNITSOFF
     x = (Vm+55)/10
     if (fabs(x) > 1e-6) {
          alpha = 0.1*x/(1 - exp(-x))
     }else{
           alpha = 0.1/(1 - 0.5*x)
     }
     UNITSON
}
```

```
FUNCTION beta(Vm (mV)) (/ms) {
    UNITSOFF
    beta = 0.125*exp(-(Vm+65)/80)
    UNITSON
}
```

Listing4. kd.mod

### The NEURONblock

Aswiththepassivemodel, SUFFIXmarksthisasadensitymechanism,whosevariablesand parameterswillbeidentifiedinhocbyaparticularsuffix.Three RANGEvariablesaredeclaredin thisblock:thepeakconductancedensity gkbar(theproductofchanneldensityand"open" conductanceperchannel),themacroscopicconductance gk(theproductof gkbarandthe fractionofchannelsthatareopenatanymoment),andthecurrent ikthatpassesthrough gk.At thelevelofhoc,thesewillbeavailableas gkbar\_kd, gk\_kd, and ik\_kd.

Thismodelalsohasafourth RANGEvariable:thegatingvariable n,whichisdeclaredinthe STATEblock(see *The STATEblock* below). STATEvariables areautomatically RANGEvariables anddonotneedtobedeclaredinthe NEURONblock.

# TheUNITSblock

Thestatements interms of units UNITSblock define new names for units interms of existing names in the UNIX units database . This can increase legibility and convenience, and is helpful both as a reminder to the user and as a means for automating the process of checking for consistency of units.

# Variabledeclarationblocks

# The ASSIGNED block

 $\label{eq:theta} This is analogous to the ASSIGNED block of the leak mechanism. For the sake of clarity, variables whose values are computed outside this modified relisted first. Note that ekislisted as an ASSIGNED variable, unlike eoftheleak mechanism which was PARAMETER. The reason for this difference is that mechanisms that produce K <sup>+</sup> flux es may cause the equilibrium potential ek to change in the course of a simulation . However, the equilibrium potential for the leak current was not linked to a specificionic species and therefore will remain fixed unless explicitly altered by hoc statements or the GUI.$ 

### The STATEblock

If a model involves differential equations, families of algebraic equations, or kinetic reaction schemes, their dependent variables or unknowns are to be listed in the state block. Therefore gating variables such as the delayed rectifier's nare declared here.

Inthispaperwewillrefertovariablesthataredeclaredinthe STATE blockas STATE variables, or simply STATES. This NMODL-specific terminology should not be confused with the physics or engineering concept of a "state variable" as avariable that describes the state of a system. While membrane potential is a "state variable" in the engineering sense, it would never be a STATE because its value is calculated only by NEURON and never by NMODL code. Likewise, the unknown sinaset of simultaneous equations (e.g. specified in LINEAR or NONLINEAR block) would not be state variables in an engineering sense, yet the ywould all be STATES.

All STATEs areautomatically RANGE variables . This is appropriate, since channel gating can vary with positional ong an eurite.

### Equationdefinitionblocks

Inadditionto the BREAKPOINTblock, this model also has INITIAL, DERIVATIVE, and FUNCTION blocks.

### The breakpointblock

Thisisthemaincomputationblockofthemechanism.Bytheendofthe BREAKPOINTblock, allvariablesareconsistentwiththenewtime.Ifamechanismhas STATEs,thisblockmust containone SOLVEstatementthattellhowthevaluesofthe STATEswillbecomputedovereach timestep.The SOLVEstatementspecifiesablockofcodethatdefinesthesimultaneousequations thatgovernthe STATES.Currentsaresetwithassignmentstatementsattheendofthe BREAKPOINTblock .

Therearetwomajorreasonswhyvariablestha tdependonthenumberoftimestheyare executed, such as counts or flags or random variables, should ingeneral not be calculated in a BREAKPOINTblock .First, the assignment statements in a BREAKPOINTblock areusuallycalled twicepertimestep.Second, with variable timestep methodsthevalueof tmaynotevenbe monotonicallyincreasing. Themetaphortokeepinmindisthat the BREAKPOINTblockis responsibleformakingallvariablesconsistentattime t.Thusassignmentstatementsinthis blockareresponsiblefortriviallyspecifyingthevaluesofvariableswhichdepend onlyonthe values of STATES, t, and v, while the SOLVEstatements perform the magic required to make the STATEsconsistentattime t.Itisnotbelaboringthepointtoreiteratethattheassignment statementsshouldproducethesameresultregardlessofhowmanytimes BREAKPOINTiscalled with the same STATES, t, and v. All too often errors have resulted from an attempt to explicitly computewhatisconceptuallya STATEina BREAKPOINTblock.Computationsthatmustbe performedonlyoncepertimestep shouldbeplacedina **PROCEDURE**, which inturn would be invokedbya SOLVEstatementina BREAKPOINTblock.

Inthisconnectionitshouldbeemphasizedthatthe SOLVEstatementisnotafunctioncall , andthatthebodyofthe DERIVATIVEblock(oranyotherblockspecifiedbya SOLVEstatement) willbeexecutedasynchronouslywithrespectto BREAKPOINTassignmentstatements.Therefore itisincorrecttoinvokeratefunctions from BREAKPOINTblock;insteadthesemustbecalled fromtheblockthatisspecifiedbythe SOLVEstatement(inthisexample,fromwithinthe DERIVATIVEblock).

Modelsofactivecurrentssuchas ik\_kdaregenerallyformulatedintermsofionic conductancesthatarefunctionsofvoltage-andtime-dependentgatingvariables.The SOLVE statementsatthebeginningofthe BREAKPOINTblockspecifythedifferentialequationsor kineticschemesthatgovernthekineticsofthegatingvariables.Thealgebraicequationsthat computetheionicconductancesandcurrentsfollowthe SOLVEstatements.

Formechanismswhose STATEsaredescribedbydifferentialequations, it is often most convenient and efficient to use one of NEURON's built-innumerical integrators. Agood choice for this particular mechanism cnexp, which is described below in connection with the DERIVATIVE block.

#### The INITIAL block

The INITIALblock may contain any instructions that should be executed when the hoc function finitialize() is called. Though of tenover looked, proper initialization of *all* STATEs is a simportant as correctly computing their temporal evolution. This is a complished for the common case by finitialize(), which executes the initialization strategy defined in the INITIAL block for each mechanism. Prior to executing the INITIAL block, STATE values are set to the invalues in the STATE declaration block (or set to 0 if it was not given a specific value in the STATE declaration block).

For this delayed rectifier mechanism, nissetto its steady-state value for the membrane potential that exists in the compartment. This potential its elfcanbe "leftover" from a previous simulation run, or it can be specified by the user, e.g. on a compartment by compartment basis using statements using the dend. v(0.2) = -48 before calling finitialize(), or uniformly over the entire cell with a statement like finitialize(-55).

Initializationstrategies. The INITIALblock should be used to initialize STATEs with respect to the initial values of membrane potential and ionic concentrations. It should be noted that there are several other ways to prepare STATEs for a simulation run. The most direct is simply to assign values explicitly using hoc statements uch as cable.n\_kd(0.3) = 0.9, but this can create arbitrary initial conditions that would be quite "unnatural."

 $\label{eq:amplitude} Amore ``physiological'`approach, which may be appropriate form odels of oscillating or chaotic systems or whose mechanisms show other complexinteractions, would be to perform an ``initialization run'' during which the model converges to ward its limit cycle or attractor. A practical alternative for systems that settle to astable equilibrium point when left undisturbed is to assign tal arge negative value and the nadvance the simulation over several large timesteps (keeping t<0 prevents the initialization steps from triggering schedule devents such asstimulus currents or synaptic inputs). This tacticates advantage of the strong stability properties of NEURON's implicit integration methods.$ 

Witheitherapproach, once the initialization transients have decayed, the STATEs can be saved to a SaveStateobject that can then be keptin memory or written to a file for future reuse. The following examples hows how to restore STATEs properly, assuming that they are contained in SaveStateobject named mystates. When STATEs are restored, it is necessary to make sure that the variable order variable timestep integratoris properly initialized; this is the purpose of cvode.re\_init(), which has no effect if one is using a fixed timestep method.

```
proc init() {
    // set Vm to v_init, t to 0,
    // and call INITIAL block in all mechanisms
    finitialize(v_init)
    mystates.restore()
    // make all assigned variables (currents, conductances,
    // equilibrium potentials) consistent with the STATEs
    fcurrent()
    // initialize the cvode integrator
    cvode.re_init() // no effect if cvode is not active
}
```

#### The DERIVATIVEblock

This is used to assign values to the derivatives of those STATEs that are described by differential equations. The statements in this block are of the form y' = expr, where a series of a postrophes can be used to signify higher-order derivatives.

ForNEURON'sfixedtimestep integrationmethod, these equations are integrated using the numerical methods pecified by the SOLVE statement in the BREAKPOINT block. The SOLVE statement should explicitly invoke one of the integration method statis appropriate for systems in which state variables can vary widely during a time step (stiff systems). The cnexp method used in this example combines second-order accuracy with computational efficiency. It is appropriate when the right hands ide of y' = f(v, y) is linear in y, so it is well-suited to model swith HH-style ionic currents. This method calculates the STATE state analytically under the assumption that all other variables are constant throughout the immester. STATE state second-order correct.

If f(v,y) is not linear in y, then the implicit integration method derivimplicit should be used. This provides first-order accuracy and is usable with general ODEs regardless of stiffness or nonlinearity.

Withvariabletimestep methods, *no*variableisassumedtobeconstant. Thesemethodsnot onlychangethetimestep, butadaptivelychooseanumerical integration formula with local error that ranges from first-orderup to O( $\Delta t^6$ ). The present implementation of NMODL creates a diagonal Jacobian approximation for the block of STATES. If  $y_i = f_i(v, y)$  is polynomial in  $y_i$  this is done analytically, otherwise by numerical differencing. In the rare case where this is in adequate, the user may supply an explicit Jacobian. Future versions of NMODL may attempt to deal with Jacobian evaluation in amore sophisticated manner. This illustrates aparticularly important benefit of the NMODL approach: improvements in methods do not affect the high level description of the membrane mechanism.

#### The FUNCTIONblock

Thefunctions defined by FUNCTION blocks are available at the hoclevel and in other mechanisms by adding the suffix of the mechanism in which they are defined, e.g. alpha\_kd() and beta\_kd(). Functions or procedures can be simply called from hocif they do not reference RANGE variables (references to GLOBAL variables are allowed). If a function or procedure does

referencea RANGEvariable ,thenpriortocallingthefunctionfromhocitisnecessarytospecify theproperinstanceofthemechanism(itslocationonthecell).Thisisdonebya setdata\_functionthathasthesyntax

where *section\_name* is the name of the section that contains the mechanism inquestion, *suffix* is the mechanism suffix, and x is the normalized distance along the section where the particular instance of the mechanism exists. The functions in our kdex ampled on ot use RANGE variables, so as pecific instance is not needed.

The differential equation that describes the kinetics of constants whose values are computed by the functions algebraic form of the equations that define these rates is

ninvolvestwovoltage-dependentrate
alpha()and beta().Theoriginal

$$\alpha = \frac{0.1 \left(\frac{\nu + 55}{10}\right)}{1 - e^{-\left(\frac{\nu + 55}{10}\right)}} \quad \text{and} \quad \beta = 0.125 e^{-\left(\frac{\nu + 65}{80}\right)}$$

The denominator for  $\alpha$  goesto 0 when v = -55 mV, which could cause numeric overflow. The code used in alpha() avoids this by switching, when v is very close to -55, to an alternative expression that is based on the first three terms of the infinite series expansion of  $e^x$ .

 $\label{eq:sense} As noted elsewhere in this paper, NMODL has features that maintaining consistency of units . Therefore the rate functions alpha() and beta() are introduced with the syntax$ 

todeclarethattheirargumentsareinunitsofmillivoltsandthattheirreturnedvaluesareinunits ofinversemilliseconds("/ms").Thisallowsautomaticunitscheckingonentrytoandreturnfrom thesefunctions.Forthesakeoflegibilitythe UNITSOFF . . .UNITSONdirectivesdisableunits checkingjustwithinthebodyofthesefunctions.Thisisacceptablebecausethetermsinthe affectedstatementsaremutuallyconsistent.Otherwisethestatementswouldhavetoberewritten inawaythatmakesunitconsistencyexplicitatthecostoflegibility,e.g.

x = (Vm + 55 (millivolt))/(10 (millivolt))

Certainvariablesexistsolelyforthesakeofcomputationalconveni ence. Thesetypically serveasscalefactors, flags, or temporary storage for intermediate results, and are not of primary importance to the mechanism. Such variables are often declared as LOCAL variables within an equation block, e.g. xin this mechanism. LOCAL variables that are declared in an equation block are not "visible" outside the block and they do not retain their values between invocations of the block. LOCAL variables that are declared outside an equation block have very different properties and are discussed under Variable declaration blocks in Example 8: calcium diffusion with buffering.

### Usage

Thehoccodeandgraphical interfaceforusingthisdistributed mechanismaresimilartothosefor the leakmechanism(Fig.2). However, the kdmechanism involvesmore RANGEvariables, and thisisreflectedinthechoices availableinthe RANGEvariable menuofNEURON's Plot what? toolforgraphwindows.Since kd usespotassium, the variables ek and ik(totalK <sup>+</sup>current)appearin thislistalongwiththevariablesthat areexplicitlydeclaredas RANGE and STATEin kd.mod(seeFig.6). ThetotalK <sup>+</sup>current ikwilldiffer from ik kdonlyifanother mechanismthat WRITES ikis presentinthissection.

/ariable to graph Enter Symbol nam	e:	
cable.n_kd(0.1)		
Show		
cable.	<pre>v(0.1) ek(0.1) ik(0.1) gkbar_kd(0.1) n_kd(0.1) ik_kd(0.1) gk_kd(0.1) diam(0.1) cm(0.1) i_ccap(0.1)</pre>	
	Accept 🕂 Cance	1

Figure6

# Example5:acalcium-activatedvoltage-gatedcurrent

 $This model of a potassium current that depends on both voltage and intracellular calcium concentration [Ca $^{2+}]_i.is based on the work of Moczydlowski and Latorre (1983). It is basically an elaboration of the HH mechanism in which the forward and backward rates depend jointly on membrane potential and [Ca $^{2+}]_i. Here we point out the salient implementation ald if ferences between this and the previous model.$ 

```
: Calcium activated K channel
NEURON {
     SUFFIX cagk
     USEION ca READ cai
     USEION k READ ek WRITE ik
     RANGE gkbar
     GLOBAL oinf, tau
}
UNITS {
     (mV)
             = (millivolt)
             = (milliamp)
     (mA)
          = (mini---
= (siemens)
     (S)
     (molar) = (1/liter)
     (mM) = (millimolar)
     FARADAY = (faraday) (kilocoulombs)
     R = (k-mole) (joule/degC)
}
```

```
PARAMETER {
     gkbar = 0.01 (S/cm2)
     d1 = 0.84
     bbar = 0.28 (/ms)
     abar = 0.48 (/ms)
}
ASSIGNED {
           (mM) : typically 0.001
     cai
     celsius (degC) : typically 20
     v (mV)
     ek
ik
            (mV)
            (mA/cm2)
     oinf
     tau (ms)
}
STATE { o } : fraction of channels that are open
BREAKPOINT {
     SOLVE state METHOD cnexp
     ik = gkbar*o*(v - ek)
}
DERIVATIVE state {
     rate(v, cai)
     o' = (oinf - o)/tau
}
INITIAL {
    rate(v, cai)
     o = oinf
}
: the following are all callable from hoc
FUNCTION alp(v (mV), ca (mM)) (/ms) {
     alp = abar/(1 + expl(k1,d1,v)/ca)
}
FUNCTION bet(v (mV), ca (mM)) (/ms) {
     bet = bbar/(1 + ca/exp1(k2,d2,v))
}
FUNCTION expl(k (mM), d, v (mV)) (mM) {
     : numeric constants in an addition or subtraction
     : expression automatically take on the unit values
     : of the other term
     exp1 = k*exp(-2*d*FARADAY*v/R/(273.15 + celsius))
}
```

```
PROCEDURE rate(v (mV), ca (mM)) {
   LOCAL a
   : LOCAL variable takes on units of right hand side
   a = alp(v,ca)
   tau = 1/(a + bet(v, ca))
   oinf = a*tau
}
```

Listing5. cagk.mod

#### The NEURONblock

 $\label{eq:Becausethepotassiumconductancedependson[Ca $^{2+}]_i, two USEIONstatements are required. The RANGEstatement declares only the peak conductance density gkbar, so this mechanism's ionic conductance will not be visible from hoc (infact, the activated ionic conductance density is not even calculated in this model). Likewise, there will be no ik_cagk that reports this particular current components eparately, even though it will be added to the total K $^{+} current ik because of WRITE ik. $^{+} current ik $^{+} current i$ 

o,shouldbeaccessibleinhoc Thevariables oinfand tau, which govern the gating variable <sup>2+</sup>]<sub>i</sub>.Atthesametime, forthepurposeofseeinghowtheyvarywithmembranepotentialand[Ca thestorageandsyntaxoverheadrequiredfora RANGEvariabledoesnotseemwarrantedbecause itappearsunlikelytobenecessaryorusefultoploteither oinfor tauasafunctionofspace. Thereforetheyhavebeendeclaredtobe GLOBALratherthan RANGE.Onfirstexamination,this mightseemtoposeaproblem. The gating of this K<sup>+</sup> current depends on membrane potential and [Ca<sup>2+</sup>]<sub>i</sub>,bothofwhichmayvarywithlocation,sohowcanitbecorrecttouse GLOBALsfor oinf and tau?Andifsomereasondidarisetoexaminethevaluesofthesevariablesataparticular location, how could this bedone? We shall see that the answers to the sequestions lie in the DERIVATIVEand PROCEDUREblocks.

#### TheUNITSblock

Thelasttwostatementsinthisblockrequiresomeclarification.Thefirstparenthesizeditem ontherighthandsideoftheequalsignisthenumericvalueofastandardentryintheUNIXunits database,whichmaybeexpressedonascaleappropriateforphysicsratherthanmembrane biophysics.Thesecondparenthesizeditemactslikeascalefactor thatconvertsittothespecific unitschosenforthismodel.Thus (faraday) appearsintheunitsdatabaseintermsof coulombs/moleandhasanumericvalueof96,485.309,butforthisparticularmechanismwe prefertouseaconstantwhoseunitsarekilocoulombs/mole.Thestatement

```
FARADAY = (faraday) (kilocoulombs)
```

results in FARADAY having units of kilocoulombs and an umeric value of 96.485309. The item (k-mole) in the statement

R = (k-mole) (joule/degC)

isnotkilomolesbutinsteadisaspecificentryintheunitsdatabaseequaltotheproductof Boltzmann'sconstantandAvogadro'snumber.Theendresultofthisstatementisthat Rhasunits ofjoules/°Candanumericvalueof8.313424.Thesespecialdefinitionsof FARADAYand R pertaintothismechanismonly;adifferentmechanismcouldassigndifferentunitsandnumeric valuestotheselabels.

Anotherpossiblesourceofconfusionistheinterpretationofthesymbol"e". Thisisalways theelectroniccharge(~ $1.6 \cdot 10$  <sup>-19</sup>coulombs), exceptoutside the UNITS block where *single* number in parentheses is treated as a conversion factor *e.g.* the expression (2e4) is treated as a conversion factor of 2 \cdot 10 <sup>4</sup>. Although errors involving "e" in a unit sexpression are easy to make, they are always caught by modlunit.

#### Variabledeclarationblocks

#### The ASSIGNED block

 $\label{eq:comments} Comments in this block can be help fult other user as reminders of "typical" values or usual conditions under which a mechanism operates. For example, the cagk mechanism is intended for use in the context of [Ca 2+] i on the order of 0.001 mM. Similarly, the temperature sensitivity of this mechanism is accommodated by including the global variable celsius. NEURON's default value for celsius is 6.3°C, but as the comment in this modifile points out, the parameter values for this particular mechanism were intended for an "operating temperature" of 20°C. Therefore the user may need to change celsius through ho corthe GUI.$ 

Thevariables oinfand tau, which were made accessible to NEURON by the GLOBAL statement in the NEURON block, are given values by the procedure rate and are declared as ASSIGNED.

#### The STATEblock

Because  $\circ$ , the fraction of channels that are open, is described by a differential equation, this mechanism needs a STATE block.

#### Equationdefinitionblocks

#### The breakpointblock

Thismechanismdoesnotmakeitsionicconductanceavailabletohoc, so the BREAKPOINT blockjustcalculates the ionic current passing through the sechannels and doesn't bother with separate computation of a conductance.

#### The DERIVATIVEblock

Thegatingvariableoisgovernedbyafirst-orderdif ferentialequation.Theprocedure rate assigns values to the voltage-sensitive parameters of this equation: the steady-state value oinf, and the time constant tau.

 $\label{eq:theta} This provides the answer to the first question that was raised above in the discussion of the NEURON block. The procedure rate will be executed individually for each segment in the model that has the cagk mechanism. Each time rate is called, its arguments will equal the membrane potential and [Ca <math display="inline">^{2+}$ ] i of the segment that is being processed, since vand cai are both RANGE variables. Therefore oinf and taucan be GLOBAL without destroying the spatial variation of the gating variable o.

### The FUNCTIONAND PROCEDUREblocks

Thefunctions alp(), bet(), expl(), and the procedure rate() implement the mathematical expressions that describe oinf and tau. To facilitate units checking, their arguments are tagged with the units that the yuse. The rate() procedure achieves some efficiency by calling alp() once and using the returned value twice; calculating oinf and tau separately would have required two calls to alp().

Theprocedure rate()helpsanswerthesecondquestionthatwasraisedinthediscussion of the NEURONblock:howtoexaminethevariation oinfand tauoverspace. This is easily done inhoc with codes uchas

```
forall { // iterate over all sections
    for (x) { // iterate over each segment
        rate(v(x), cai(x))
        // here put statements to plot
        // or save oinf and tau
    }
}
Variable to graph
```

#### Usage

ThismechanisminvolvesbothK <sup>+</sup>andCa <sup>2+</sup> sothelistof RANGEvariablesdisplayedby Plot what?hasmoreentriesthanitdidfor the kdmechanism(compareFigs.7and6). However, cai, cao,and ecawillremain constantunlessthesectioninwhichthis mechanismhasbeeninsertedalsoincludes somethingthatcanaffectcalciumconcentration (e.g.apumporbuffer).





# Example6:extracellularpotassiumaccumulation



 $extracellular structures actas a diffusion barrier that prevents free communication between this space and the bath. Therefore, when there is a large efflux of K <sup>+</sup> ions from the axon, e.g. during the repolarizing phase of an action potential or in response to injected depolarizing current, K <sup>+</sup> build sup in the "Frankenhaeuser-Hodgkinspace" (F-H space) . This elevation of [K <sup>+</sup>]_o shifts E _K in a depolarized direction, which has two important consequences. First, it reduces the driving force for K <sup>+</sup> efflux and causes a decline of the outward I _K. Second, when the action potential terminates or the injected depolarizing current is stopped, the persistent elevation of E _K causes a slowly decaying depolarization or inward current. This depolarizing shift dissipates gradually as [K<sup>+</sup>]_o equilibrates with [K <sup>+</sup>]_{bath}.$ 

```
: Extracellular potassium ion accumulation
NEURON {
  SUFFIX kext
  USEION k READ ik WRITE ko
  GLOBAL kbath
  RANGE fhspace, txfer
}
UNITS {
  (mV) = (millivolt
(mA) = (milliamp)
          = (millivolt)
  FARADAY = (faraday) (coulombs)
  (molar) = (1/liter)
  ( mM )
       = (millimolar)
}
PARAMETER {
  kbath = 10 (mM) : seawater (squid axon!)
  fhspace = 300 (angstrom) : effective thickness of F-H space
  txfer = 50 (ms) : tau for F-H space \langle - \rangle bath exchange = 30-100
}
ASSIGNED { ik (mA/cm2) }
STATE { ko (mM) }
BREAKPOINT { SOLVE state METHOD cnexp }
DERIVATIVE state {
  ko' = (1e8)*ik/(fhspace*FARADAY) + (kbath - ko)/txfer
}
```

Listing6. kext.mod

#### The NEURONblock

Acompartmentmaycontainseveralmechanismsthathavedirectinteractionswithionic concentrations(e.g.diffusion,buffers,pumps).ThereforeNEURONmustbeabletocompute the totalcurrents and concentrations consistently.The USEIONstatements etsupthenecessary "bookkeeping" by automatically creating as eparatemechanism that keeps track of four essential

variables:thetotaloutwardcurrentcarriedbyanion,theinternalandexternalconcentrations of theion,anditsequilibriumpotential.Inthiscasethenameoftheionis "k"andthe automatically-createdmechanismiscalled "k\_ion"inthehocinterpreter.The k\_ion mechanismhasvariables ik, ki, ko,and ek,which represent K,[K<sup>+</sup>]<sub>i</sub>,[K<sup>+</sup>]<sub>o</sub>,and K, respectively.Thesedonothavesuffixes;furthermore,theyare differentvaluesineverysegmentofeachsectioninwhich theyexist.Inotherwords,the currentthroughHodgkin-Huxleypotassiumchannels nearoneendoft be cable.ik\_hh(0.1),but hetotal thetotal cable.ik(0.1).

Thismechanismcomputes[K <sup>+</sup>]<sub>o</sub>fromtheoutwardpotassiumcurrent,soit READs ikand WRITES ko.Whenamechanism WRITEsaparticularionicconcentration,thismeansthatitsets thevalueforthatconcentrationatalllocationsineverysectionintowhichithasbeeninserted Thishasanimportantconsequence:inanygivensection,noionicconcentrationshouldbe "written"bymorethanonemechanism.

 $The bath is assumed to be a large, well-stirred compartment that envelops the entire ``experimental preparation.''Therefore kbath is GLOBAL variables othat all sections that contain the kext mechanism will have the same numeric value for [K ^]_bath. Since this would be one of the controlled variables in an experiment, the value of kbath is specified by the user and will remain constant during the simulation. The thickness of the F-H space is fhspace, the time constant for equilibration with the bath is txfer, and both are RANGE variables so the ycan vary along the length of each section .$ 

### Variabledeclarationblocks

#### The parameterblock

Thedefaultvalueof kbathissetto10mM,consistentwiththecompositionofseawater (FrankenhaeuserandHodgkin1956) .Since kbathis GLOBAL,asinglehocstatementcanchange thistoanewvaluethatwillaffectalloccurrencesofthe kextmechanism,e.g. kbath\_kext = 8wouldchangeitto8mMeverywhere.

#### The STATEblock

Ionicconcentrationisa STATEofamechanismonlyifthatmechanismcalculatesthe concentration.Thismodelcomputes ko,thepotassiumconcentrationintheF-Hspace,according tothedynamicsspecifiedbyanordinarydifferentialequation.

#### Equationdefinitionblocks

# The breakpointblock

 $\label{eq:constraint} This mechanisminvolves a single differential equation that tells therate of change of $k_0$, the $K^+$ concentration in the F-H space. The choice of integration method in NMODL is based on the recognition that the equation is linear in $k_0$. The total $K^+$ current ikmight also vary during a timestep (see the DERIVATIVE block) if membrane potential, some $K^+$ conductance, or $k_0$ itself is changing rapidly. In a simulation where such rapid changes were likely to occur, proper modeling practice would lead one either to use NEURON with CVODE $k_0$, or to use a fixed time step that would be short compared to the rate of change of $k_0$. The total $K^+$ current is a stable of $k_0$ 

### The INITIAL block

Theonly STATE in this mechanism is the ionic concentration ko, so this mechanism does not have an INITIAL block. This is because the model translator for NEURON ignores default values for ionic concentrations. Any assignment to an ion concentration in INITIAL block will result in an inconsistent initialization on return from finitialize(). Furthermore, in this particular model it is likely to be tool imiting to set ko = kbath.

Instead, concentrations should be initialized inhoc . Choosing the best way to do this depends on the design and intended use of the model in which the mechanism has been embedded: is the concentration supposed to start at the same value in all sections where the mechanism has been inserted, or should it be non uniform from the outset?

Takethecaseofamechanismthat WRITEsanionconcentration .Suchamechanismhasan associatedglobalvariablethatcanbeusedtoinitializetheconcentrationtothesamevaluein eachsectionwherethemechanismexists.Theseglobalvariableshavedefaultvalues for na, k and cathatare"reasonable"butprobablyincorrectforanyspecificpreparation.Thedefault concentrationsforionnamescreatedbytheuserare1mM;theseshouldbeassignedcorrect valuesinhoc.Asubsequentcallto finitialize()willusethistoinitializetheionic concentration.

Thenameoftheglobalvariable isformedfromthenameoftheionthatthemechanismuses andtheconcentrationthatit WRITES.Forexample,the kextmechanismuses kand WRITES ko, sothecorrespondingglobalvariableis ko0\_k\_ion.Thesequenceofinstructions

willset koto10mMand kito217.6mMineverysegmentthathasthe kextmechanism.

 $\label{eq:concentration} What if on expressions of the model are supposed to have different initial concentrations? For these particular sections the ion_style() function would be used to assert that the global variable is not to be used to initialize the concentration for this particular ion. The numericar guments in the statement$ 

```
dend ion_style("k_ion",3,2,1,1,0)
```

wouldhavethefollowingeffectsonthe kextmechanisminthe dendsection(insequence): treat koasa STATEvariable;treat ekasan ASSIGNEDvariable;oncallto finitialize()use theNernstequationtocompute ekfromtheconcentrations;compute ekfromtheconcentrations oneverycallto fadvance();do *not*use ko0\_k\_ionor ki0\_k\_iontosettheinitialvaluesof koand ki.Theproperinitializationwouldnowbetoset koand kiexplicitlyforthissection, e.g.

```
ko0_k_ion = 10 // all sections start with ko = 10 mM dend {ko = 5 ki = 2*54.4} // . . . except dend finitialize(v_init)
```

Acompletediscussion of ion\_style(),itsarguments,anditsactionsiscontained in NEURON'shelpsystem.

# The derivativeblock

Atthecoreofthismechanismisasingledifferentialequationthatrelates  $d[K^+]_o/dt$  to the sumoftwoterms. The first term describes the contribution of  $ikto[K^+]_o$ , subject to the assumption that the thickness F-H space is much smaller than the diameter of the section. The unit conversion factor of 10<sup>8</sup> is required because fhspace is given in Ångstroms. The second term describes the exchange of K<sup>+</sup> between the bath and the F-H space.

### Usage

 $\label{eq:result} If this mechanism is presenting senting senting a senting through the senting through the senting the senting senting the senting senting the senting senting senting senting the senting senting$ 

# Generalcommentsaboutkineticschemes

Kineticschemes provideahighlevelframeworkthatisperfectlysuitedforcompactand intuitivelyclearspecificationofmodelsthatinvolvediscretestatesinwhich"material"is conserved. The basic notion in such mechanisms is that flow out of one state equals flow into another. Almost all models of membrane channels, chemical reactions, macroscopic Markov processes, and ionic diffusion are elegantly expressed through kinetic schemes. It will be helpful to review some fundamentals before proceeding to specific examples of mechanisms implemented with kinetic schemes.

Theunknownsinakineticscheme, which are usually concentrations of individual reactants, are declared in the STATE block . The user expresses the kinetic scheme with an otation that is very similar to alist of simultaneous chemical reactions . The NMODL translator converts the kinetic scheme into a family of ODEs whose unknowns are the STATES. Hence the simple

```
STATE { mc m }
KINETIC scheme1 {
    ~ mc <-> m (a(v), b(v))
}
```

isequivalentto

```
DERIVATIVE scheme1 {
    mc' = -a(v)*mc + b(v)*m
    m' = a(v)*mc - b(v)*m
}
```

Thefirstcharacterofareactionstatement isthetilde" ~",whichisusedtoimmediately distinguishthiskindofstatementfromothersequencesoftokensthatcouldbeinterpretedasan expression. The expression to the left of the three character reaction indicator" <->"specifies the reactants, and the expression immediately to the right specifies the products . The two expressions in parentheses specify the forward and reverse reaction rates (here the rate functions a (v) and

b(v)). After each reaction, the variables  $f_flux$  and  $b_flux$  are assigned the values of the forward and reverse flux escape tively. These can be used in assignments taken the second sec

```
~ cai + pump <-> capump (k1,k2)
~ capump <-> pump + cao (k3,k4)
ica = (f_flux - b_flux)*2*Faraday/area
```

 $\label{eq:linear} In this case, the forward flux is k3*capump, there verse flux is k4*pump*cao, and the positive-outward current convention is consistent with the sign of the expression for ica (in the second reaction, forward flux means positive ions move from the inside to the outside).$ 

Morecomplicated reaction sequences such as the wholly imaginary

```
KINETIC scheme2 {
    ~ 2A + B <-> C (k1,k2)
    ~ C + D <-> A + 2B (k3,k4)
}
```

begin to show the clarity of expression and suggest the comparative ease of modification of the kinetic representation over the equivalent but stoichiometrically confusing

```
DERIVATIVE scheme2 {
    A' = -2*k1*A^2*B + 2*k2*C + k3*C*D - k4*A*B^2
    B' = -k1*A^2*B + k2*C + 2*k3*C*D - 2*k4*A*B^2
    C' = k1*A^2*B - k2*C - k3*C*D + k4*A*B^2
    D' = -k3*C*D + k4*A*B^2
}
```

Clearlyastatementsuchas

~ calmodulin + 3Ca <-> active (k1, k2)

wouldbeeasiertomodify(e.g.soitrequirescombinationwith4calciumions)thantherelevant terminthethreedifferentialequationsforthe STATEsthatthisreactionaffects.Thekinetic representationiseasytodebugbecauseitcloselyresemblesfamiliarnotationsandismuchcloser totheconceptualizationofwhatishappeningthanthedifferentialequationswouldbe.

Anotherbenefitofkineticschemesisthesimplepolynomialnatureofthefluxterms, which allowsthetranslator to easily performagreat deal of preprocessing that make simplicit numerical integration more efficient. Specifically, then on zero elements  $\partial y'_i / \partial y_j$  (partial derivatives of  $dy_i / dt$  with respect to  $y_j$ ) of the sparse matrix are calculated analytically in NMODL and collected into a C function that is called by solverstocal culate the Jacobian . Furthermore, the form of the reaction statements determines if the scheme is linear, obviating an iterative computation of the solution. Voltage-sensitive rates are allowed, but to guarantee numerical stability the rate constants should not be functions of STATES. Thus writing the calmodulin example as

~ calmodulin <-> active (k3\*Ca^3, k2)

willworkbutispotentiallyunstableif Caisa STATEinothersimultaneousreactionsinthesame modfile.Variabletimestep methodssuchasCVODEwillcompensatebyreducing dt,butthis willmakethesimulationrunmoreslowly.

Kineticschemerepresentationsprovideagreatdealofleverage becauseasinglecompact expressionisequivalenttoalargeamountofCcode.Onespecialadvantagefromthe programmer'spointofviewisthefactthattheseexpressionsareindependentofthesolution method.Differentsolutionmethodsrequiredifferentcode,buttheNMODLtranslatorgenerates thiscodeautomatically.Thissavestheuser'stimeandeffortandensuresthatallcodeexpresses thesamemechanism.AnotheradvantageisthattheNMODLtranslatorhandlesthetaskof interfacingthemechanismtotheremainderoftheprogram.Thisisatediousexercisethatwould requiretheusertohavespecialknowledgethatisnotrelevanttoneurophysiologyandwhichmay changefromversiontoversion.

Specialissues are raised by mechanisms that involve fluxes between compartments of different size, or whose reactant shaved ifferent units. The first of the following examples has none of these complications, which are addressed later inmodels of diffusion and active transport.

### Example7:kineticschemeforavoltage-gatedcurrent

This illustration of NMODL's facility for handling kinetic scheme simplements a simple three-statemodel for the conductance state transitions of avoltage-gated potassium current

$$C_1 \xleftarrow{kf_1}{kb_1} C_2 \xleftarrow{kf_2}{kb_2} O$$

The closed states are C 1 and C 2, the open state is O, and the rates of the forward and backward state transitions are calculated in terms of the equilibrium constants and time constants of the isolated reactions through the familiar expressions  $K_i(v) = kf_i/kb_i$  and  $\tau_i(v) = 1/(kf_i + kb_i)$ . The equilibrium constants  $K_i(v)$  are given by the Boltzmann factors  $K_1 = e^{[k_2(d_2-v)-k_1(d_1-v)]}$  and  $K_2 = e^{-k_2(d_2-v)}$ , where the energies of states C 1, C 2, and O are O,  $k_1(d_1-v)$ , and  $k_2(d_2-v)$  respectively.

The typical sequence of analysis is to determine the constants  $k_1$ ,  $d_1$ ,  $k_2$ , and  $d_2$  by fitting the steady-state voltage clamp data, and then to find the voltage-sensitive transition time constants  $\tau_1(v)$  and  $\tau_2(v)$  from the temporal properties of the clamp current at each voltage pulse level. In this example the steady-state information has been incorporated in the NMODL code, and the time constants are conveyed by tables (arrays) that are created within the interpreter.

```
: Three state kinetic scheme for HH-like potassium channel
: Steady-state v-dependent state transitions have been fit
: Needs v-dependent time constants from tables created under hoc
NEURON {
  SUFFIX k3st
  USEION k READ ek WRITE ik
  RANGE q, qbar
}
UNITS { (mV) = (millivolt) }
PARAMETER {
  gbar = 33 (millimho/cm2)
d1 = -38 (mV)
  k1 = 0.151 (/mV)
  d2 = -25 (mV)
  k2 = 0.044 (/mV)
}
ASSIGNED {
  v (mV)
   ek (mV)
   g (millimho/cm2)
  ik (milliamp/cm2)
kf1 (/ms)
  kb1 (/ms)
  kf2 (/ms)
  kb2 (/ms)
}
STATE \{ c1 c2 o \}
BREAKPOINT {
  SOLVE kin METHOD sparse
  g = gbar*o
   ik = g^{*}(v - ek)^{*}(1e-3)
}
INITIAL { SOLVE kin STEADYSTATE sparse }
KINETIC kin {
  rates(v)
  ~ cl <-> c2 (kfl, kbl)
   ~ c2 <-> o
                 (kf2, kb2)
  CONSERVE c1 + c2 + o = 1
}
FUNCTION_TABLE taul(v(mV)) (ms)
FUNCTION_TABLE tau2(v(mV)) (ms)
```

```
PROCEDURE rates(v(millivolt)) {
  LOCAL K1, K2
  K1 = exp(k2*(d2 - v) - k1*(d1 - v))
  kf1 = K1/(tau1(v)*(1+K1))
  kb1 = 1/(tau1(v)*(1+K1))
  K2 = exp(-k2*(d2 - v))
  kf2 = K2/(tau2(v)*(1+K2))
  kb2 = 1/(tau2(v)*(1+K2))
}
```

Listing7. k3st.mod

### The NEURONblock

### Variabledeclarationblocks

### The STATEblock

 $The \ {\tt STATEs} in this mechanism are the fractions of channels that are inclosed states 1 or 2 or in the open state. Since the total number of channels in all states is conserved, the sum of the \ {\tt STATEs} must be unity$ 

c1+ c2+ o=1

Thisconservation lawmeansthatthe k3stmechanismreallyhasonlytwoindependentstate variables,afactthatunderscoresthedifferencebetweena STATEinNMODLandtheconceptof astatevariable .ItalsoaffectshowNMODLsetsuptheequationsthataretobesolved,aswe willseeinthediscussionofthe KINETICblockbelow.

Notallreactantsorproductsneedtobe STATES.Ifthereactantisan ASSIGNEDOr PARAMETERvariable ,thenadifferentialequationisnotgeneratedforit, and tistreated as constantforthepurposes of calculating the declared STATES. Statements such as

```
PARAMETER {kbath (mM)}
STATE {ko (mM)}
KINETIC scheme3 {
        ~ ko <-> kbath (r, r)
}
```

are translated to the single ODE equivalent

```
ko' = r*(kbath - ko)
```

i.e. kotendsexponentiallytothesteadystatevalueof kbath.

# Equationdefinitionblocks

### The breakpointblock

Therecommendedidiomforintegratingakineticschemeis

```
BREAKPOINT {
    SOLVE scheme METHOD sparse
    . . .
}
```

whichintegratesthe STATEsintheschemeone dtsteppercallto fadvance()inNEURON. The sparsemethodisgenerallyfasterthancomputingthefullJacobian matrix,thoughbothuse Newtoniterations toadvancethe STATEswithafullyimplicitmethod(first-ordercorrect) . Additionally,the sparsemethodseparatestheJacobianevaluationfromthecalculationofthe STATEderivatives,thusallowingvariabletimestep methods,suchasCVODE,toefficiently computeonlywhatisneededtoadvancethe STATEs.Non-implicitmethods ,suchasRunge-KuttaorEuler ,shouldbeavoidedsincekineticschemescommonlyhaveverywiderangingrate constantsthatmakethesemethodsnumericallyunstablewithreasonable dtsteps.Infact,itis notunusualtospecifyequilibriumreactionssuchas

~ A <-> B (le6\*sqrt(K), le6/sqrt(K))

which can only be solved by implicit methods.

# The INITIALblock

Initializationofakineticscheme toitssteadystatevaluesisaccomplished with

```
INITIAL {
    SOLVE scheme STEADYSTATE sparse
}
```

# The KINETIC block

Thevoltage-dependentrateconstants are computed in these parate procedure rates (). That procedure computes the equilibrium constants K1 and K2 from the constants k1, d1, k2, and d2, whose empirically-determined default values are given in the PARAMETERs block, and membrane potential v. The time constants tauland tau2, however, are found from tables created under hoc (see *The FUNCTION\_TABLES* below).

TheotheritemofnoteinthisblockistheCONSERVEstatement.AsmentionedaboveinGeneralcommentsaboutkineticschemes,thefundamentalideaistosystematicallyaccountforconservationofmaterial.Whenthereisneitherasourcenorasinkreactionfora STATE,thedifferentialequationsarenotlinearlyindependentwhencalculatingsteadystates(dtapproaches

 $\label{eq:mc} infinity). For example, in \verb"scheme1above the steady state condition m'=mc'=0 yields two identical equations. Steady states can be approximated by integrating for several steps from any initial condition with large dt, but round offer ror can be aproblem if the Jacobian matrix is nearly singular. To solve the equations while maintaining strict numerical conservation throughout the simulation (no accumulation of round offer ror), the user is allowed to explicitly specify conservation equations with the CONSERVE statement. The conservation law for <code>scheme1isexpressed</code> as$ 

CONSERVE m + mc = 1

The CONSERVEstatementdoesnotaddtotheinformationcontentofakineticschemeand shouldbeconsidered only as a hint to the translator. The NMODL translatorusesthisalgebraic equationtoreplacetheODEforthelast STATE on the left side of the equal sign. If one of the STATEnamesisanarray ,theconservationequationwillcontainanimplicitsumoverthearray. If the last STATE is an array, then the ODE for the last STATEarrayelementwillbereplacedby thealgebraic equation. The choice of which STATEODEisreplacedbythealgebraicequationis implementation-dependentanddoesnotaffectthesolution(towithinroundofferror).Ifa CONSERVEd STATEisrelativetoacompartmentsize, then compartmentsize is implicitly taken CONSERVEequation(seeExample8for intoaccountforthe STATEsonthelefthandsideofthe discussionofthe COMPARTMENTstatement). Therighthandsideismerelyanexpression, in whichanynecessarycompartmentsizesmustbeincludedexplicitly.

Thusinacalcium pumpmodel

$$\operatorname{Ca}_{\operatorname{int}} + \operatorname{Pump} \xleftarrow{k_1}{k_2} \operatorname{Ca} \bullet \operatorname{Pump} \xleftarrow{k_3}{k_4} \operatorname{Ca}_{\operatorname{ext}} + \operatorname{Pump}$$

thepumpisconservedandonecouldwrite

CONSERVE pump + pumpca = total\_pump \* pumparea

#### The FUNCTION\_TABLES

As noted above, the steady-state clamp data define the voltage dependence of K1 and K2, but a complete description of the K<sup>+</sup> current requires analysis of the temporal properties of the clamp current to determine the rate factors at each of the command potentials. The result would be alist or table of membrane potentials with associated time constants. One way of dealing with these numeric values would be to fit the mwith a pair of approximating functions, but the tactic used in this example is to leave the mint abular form for NMODL's FUNCTION\_TABLE to deal with.

Thisisdonebyplacingthenumericvaluesinthreehoc Vectors, say v\_vec, tau1\_vec, and tau2\_vec, where the first is the list of voltages and the other two, at corresponding indices, give the time constants. These Vectors would be attached to the FUNCTION\_TABLEs of this model with the hoccommands

```
table_tau1_k3st(tau1_vec, v_vec)
table_tau2_k3st(tau2_vec, v_vec)
```

Thenwhenever tau1(x)iscalledintheNMODLfile,or tau1\_k3st(x)iscalledfromhoc, the interpolated value of the array is returned.

Ausefulfeatureof FUNCTION\_TABLEsisthatpriortodevelopingthe Vectordatabase, they can be attached to ascalar value as in

table\_tau1\_k3st(100)

effectivelybecomingconstantfunctions.Also FUNCTION\_TABLEscanbedeclaredwithtwo arguments and doubly dimensioned hoc arrays attached to them. The latter is useful, for example, with voltage-and calcium-sensitive rates. In this case the table is linearly interpolated in both dimensions.

### Usage

Insertingthismechanismintoasectionmakesthe availableatthehoclevel,aswellastheconductances

STATES c1\_k3st, c2\_k3st,and o\_k3st gbar\_k3stand g\_k3st.

# Example8:calciumdiffusionwithbuffering

Thismechanism illustrateshowtousekineticschemestomodelintracellularCa <sup>2+</sup>diffusion andbuffering.Itdiffersfromthepriorexampleinseveralimportantaspects:Ca <sup>2+</sup>isnot conservedbutinsteadentersasaconsequenceofthetransmembraneCa <sup>2+</sup>current;diffusion involvestheexchangeofCa <sup>2+</sup>betweencompartmentsofunequalsize;Ca <sup>2+</sup>isbuffered.

OnlyfreeCa<sup>2+</sup>isassumedtobemobile,whereasboundCa<sup>2+</sup>andfreebufferarestationary. TheCa<sup>2+</sup>bufferconcentrationandrateconstantsarebasedonthebullfrogsympatheticganglion cellmodeldescribedbyYamadaetal. (1989).Forathoroughtreatmentofnumericsolutionof thediffusionequationsthereaderisreferredtoOranandBoris (1987).

# Modelingdiffusionwithkineticschemes

DiffusionismodeledastheexchangeofCa <sup>2+</sup> betweenadjacentcompartments.Forradial diffusion,thecompartmentsareaseriesof concentricshellsaroundacylindricalcore,as showninFig.9for Nannuli=4.Theindexofthe outermostshellis0andtheindexofthecoreis Nannuli- 1.Theoutermostshellishalfasthick astheotherssothat[Ca <sup>2+</sup>]willbesecond-order correctwithrespecttospaceatthesurfaceofthe segment.Concentrationisalsosecond-order correctmidwaythroughthethicknessoftheother



Figure9

shells and at the center of the core. These depths are indicated by " x" in Fig. 9. The radius of the cylindrical core equals the thickness of the outer most shell, and the intervening Nannuli - 2 shells each have thickness  $\Delta r = \text{diam}/2$  (Nannuli - 1), where diamist he diamist he

Becausesegmentdiameterandthenumberofshellsaffectthed imensionsoftheshells,they alsoaffectthetimecourseofdiffusion. Thefluxbetween adjacent shells is  $\Delta$ [Ca<sup>2+</sup>]D<sub>Ca</sub>A / \Delta r,

where  $\Delta$ [Ca<sup>2+</sup>]istheconcentration difference between the shell centers, D  $C_a$  is the diffusion coefficient for Ca<sup>2+</sup>, A is the area of the boundary between shells, and  $\Delta$ r is the distance between their centers. This suggests that diffusion can be described by the basic kinetic scheme

```
FROM i = 0 TO Nannuli-2 {
    ~ ca[i] <-> ca[i+1] (f[i+1], f[i+1])
}
```

where Nannuliisthenumberofshells, ca[i]istheconcentrationmidwaythroughthe thicknessofshell i(exceptfor ca[0]whichistheconcentrationattheoutersurfaceofshell0), and the rate constants f[i+1]equalD  $_{Ca}A_{i+1}/\Delta r$ . For each adjacent pair of shells, both A  $_{i+1}$  and  $\Delta rare directly proportional to segment diameter. Therefore the ratios A <math>_{i+1}/\Delta r$  dependonly on shell index, i.e. once they have been computed for one segment, they can be used for all segments that have the same number of radial compartments regardless of segment diameter.

Asitstands, this kinetic scheme is dimensionally incorrect. Dimensional consistency requires that the product of STATEs and rates bein units of STATE pertime. In the present example the STATEs ca[] are intensive variables (concentration, ormass/volume), so the product of f[] and ca[] must be in units of concentration pertime. However, therates have units of volume per time, so this product is in units of mass pertime, i.e. a flux that signifies the rate at which Ca  $^{2+}$  is entering or leaving a compartment. This flux is the time derivative of an extensive variable .

 $This disparity is corrected by specifying \verb| STATE volumes with the \verb| COMPARTMENT statement, as in$ 

```
COMPARTMENT volume {state1 state2 . . . }
```

where the STATEs named in the braces have the same compartment volume given by the volume expression after the COMPARTMENT keyword. The volume merely multiplies the dSTATE/dt left hands ide of the equivalent differential equations, converting it to an extensive quantity and making it consistent with flux terms in units of absolute quantity per time.

Thevolumeofeachcylindricalshelldependsonitsindexandthetotalnumberofshells, and isproportionaltothesquareofsegmentdiameter. Consequently the volumes can be computed onceforasegment with unit diameter and then scaled by diam^2 for use in each segment that has the same Nannuli.

TheequationsthatdescribetheradialmovementofCa <sup>2+</sup>areindependentofsegmentlength. Thereforeitisconvenienttoexpressshellvolumesandsurfaceareasinunitsofµm <sup>2</sup> (volume/length)andµm(area/length),respectively.
```
UNITS {
  (molar) = (1/liter)
  (mM) = (millimolar)
  (um) = (micron)
(mA) = (milliamp)
  FARADAY = (faraday) (10000 coulomb)
  PI = (pi) \qquad (1)
}
PARAMETER {
  DCa = 0.6 (um2/ms)
  klbuf = 100 (/mM-ms) : Yamada et al. 1989
  k2buf = 0.1 (/ms)
  TotalBuffer = 0.003 (mM)
}
ASSIGNED {
  diam
            (um)
  ica
           (mA/cm2)
            ( mM )
  cai
  vrat[Nannuli] : numeric value of vrat[i] equals the volume
                 : of annulus i of a lum diameter cylinder
                 : multiply by diam<sup>2</sup> to get volume per um length
  Kd
           (/mM)
  В0
            ( mM )
}
STATE {
  : ca[0] is equivalent to cai
  : ca[] are very small, so specify absolute tolerance
  ca[Nannuli] (mM) <1e-10>
  CaBuffer[Nannuli] (mM)
  Buffer[Nannuli] (mM)
}
BREAKPOINT { SOLVE state METHOD sparse }
LOCAL factors done
INITIAL {
   if (factors_done == 0) { : flag becomes 1 in the first segment
     factors_done = 1 : all subsequent segments will have
     factors()
                            : vrat = 0 unless vrat is GLOBAL
   }
  Kd = k1buf/k2buf
  B0 = TotalBuffer/(1 + Kd*cai)
  FROM i=0 TO Nannuli-1 {
     ca[i] = cai
     Buffer[i] = B0
     CaBuffer[i] = TotalBuffer - B0
  }
}
```

```
LOCAL frat[Nannuli] : scales the rate constants for model geometry
PROCEDURE factors() {
  LOCAL r, dr2
                 : starts at edge (half diam)
  r = 1/2
  dr2 = r/(Nannuli-1)/2 : full thickness of outermost annulus,
                        : half thickness of all other annuli
  vrat[0] = 0
  frat[0] = 2*r
  FROM i=0 TO Nannuli-2 {
     vrat[i] = vrat[i] + PI*(r-dr2/2)*2*dr2 : interior half
     r = r - dr^2
     frat[i+1] = 2*PI*r/(2*dr2) : outer radius of annulus
                                 : div by distance between centers
     r = r - dr^2
     vrat[i+1] = PI*(r+dr2/2)*2*dr2 : outer half of annulus
  }
}
LOCAL dsq, dsqvol : can't define local variable in KINETIC block
                  :
                     or use in COMPARTMENT statement
KINETIC state {
  COMPARTMENT i, diam*diam*vrat[i] {ca CaBuffer Buffer}
  LONGITUDINAL_DIFFUSION i, DCa*diam*diam*vrat[i] {ca}
  ~ ca[0] << (-ica*PI*diam/(2*FARADAY)) : ica is Ca efflux
  FROM i=0 TO Nannuli-2 {
     ~ ca[i] <-> ca[i+1] (DCa*frat[i+1], DCa*frat[i+1])
  }
  dsq = diam*diam
  FROM i=0 TO Nannuli-1 {
     dsqvol = dsq*vrat[i]
     ~ ca[i] + Buffer[i] <-> CaBuffer[i] (k1buf*dsqvol, k2buf*dsqvol)
  }
  cai = ca[0]
}
```

Listing8. cadif.mod

## The NEURONblock

Therearet wo GLOBALS.Oneisthetotalbufferconcentration TotalBuffer,which is assumed to be uniform throughout the cell. The other is vrat, an array whose elements will be the numeric values of the (volume/length) of the shells for a segment with unit diameter. These values are computed by PROCEDURE factors() near the end of Listing 8. As noted above, a segment with diameter diamhass hells with volume/length equal to diam^2 \* vrat[i].

 $\label{eq:cause} Because each instance of this mechanism has the same number of shells, the same vrat[i] can be used to find the shell volume sate achlocation in the model cell where the mechanism exists.$ 

The DEFINEstatementsetsthenumberofshellsto4.Manyofthevariablesinthismodelare arrays, and NMODL arrays are not dynamic. Instead, their lengthsmust bespecified when the NMODL code is translated to C.

## The UNITSblock

 $\label{eq:Faraday} Faraday's constant is scaled here in order to avoid having to include this scale factor as a separate term in the statement in the KINETIC block where transmembrane current icais reckoned as the efflux of Ca $^{2+}$ from the outer most shell. Since each statement in UNITS block must include an explicit assertion of the units that are involved, the statement that assigns the value 3.141... to Plincludes (1) which signifies that this is a dimensionless constant .$ 

## Variabledeclarationblocks

## The ASSIGNEDblock

## The STATEblock

Inadditiontodiffusion,thismechanisminvolvesCa <sup>2+</sup>bufferingthatfollowsthereaction

Ca + Buffer 
$$\xleftarrow{k_1^{buf}}{k_2^{buf}}$$
 Ca • Buffer

Thistakesplaceineachoftheshells, so ca, Bufferand CaBufferareallarrays.

The declaration of ca[]uses the syntax *state*(*units*)< *absolute\_tolerance*>to specify the absolute tolerance that will be employed by CVODE. The solver attempts to use as tepsize for which the local error  $\varepsilon_i$  for each *state* is a state as to ne of the set wo in equalities:

 $\varepsilon_i < relative\_tolerance \cdot | state_i |$ 

 $\epsilon_i < absolute\_tolerance$ 

Thedefaultvaluesforthesetolerancesare0and10  $^{-2}$ , respectively, soonlya STATEthatis extremelysmall(suchasintracellular[Ca  $^{2+}$ ]) needstohaveits absolute tolerance specified. As an alternative to specifying a smaller absolute tolerance, ca[] could have been defined in terms of units such as micromolar or nanomolar, which would have increased the numeric value of these variables. This would necessitate a change of scale factors in many of the statements that involve ca[]. For example, the assignment for cai(which is required to be in mM) would be cai = (1e-6)\*ca[0].

or

## ${\tt LOCAL} variables declared outside of equation definition blocks$

A LOCALvariable thatisdeclaredoutsideofanequationdefinitionblockisequivalenttoa staticvariableinC.Thatis,itisvisiblethroughoutthemechanism(butnotatthehoclevel),it retainsitsvalue,anditissharedbetweenallinstancesofagivenmechanism.Theinitialvalueof suchavariable is0.

Thisparticularmechanismemploysfourvariablesofthistype: factors\_done, frat[], dsq,and dsqvol.Themeaningofeachoftheseisdiscussedbelow.

## Equationdefinitionblocks

## The INITIAL block

Initializationofthismechanismisatwostepprocess.Thefirststepistouse PROCEDURE factors()(seebelow)tosetupthegeometryofthemodelbycomputingthescalefactorarrays vrat[]and frat[]thatareappliedtotheshellvolumesandrateconstants.Thisonlyhastobe doneoncebecausethesamescalefactorsareusedforallsegmentsthathavethesamenumberof shells,asnotedabovein **Modelingdiffusionwithkineticschemes** .Thevariable factors\_doneisaflagthatindicateswhether vrat[]and frat[]havebeencomputed.The NMODLkeywordLOCALmeansthatthevalueof factors\_donewillbethesameinall instancesofthismechanism,butthatitwillnotbevisibleatthehoclevel .Therefore factors() willbeexecutedonlyonce,regardlessofhowmanysegmentscontainthe cadifusmechanism.

Thesecondstepistoinitialize the mechanism's STATES. This mechanism assumes that the total buffer concentration and the initial free calcium concentration are uniform in all shells, and that buffering has reached its steady-state. Therefore the initial concentration of free buffer is computed from the initial [Ca<sup>2+</sup>] and the buffer's dissociation constant. It should be noted that the value of caiwill be setto cai0\_ca\_ion just prior to executing the code in the INITIAL block (see also *The INITIAL block* in **Example6: extra cellular pot assium accumulation**).

Itmaybeinstructivetocomparethisinitializationstrategywiththeapproachthatwasused forthevoltage-gatedcurrentofListing7( k3st.mod).Thatpreviousexampleinitializedthe STATEsthroughnumericsolutionofakineticscheme,soits KINETICblockrequireda CONSERVEstatementtoensurethattheequivalentsystemofODEswouldbelinearly independent.Here,however,the STATEsareinitializedbyexplicitalgebraicassignment,sono CONSERVEstatementisnecessary .

## **PROCEDURE** factors()

Thearrays vrat[]and frat[],whichareusedtoscaletheshellvolumesandrateconstants to ensure consistency of units, are computed here. The elements of vrat[]are the volumes of a set of concentric cylindrical shells, whose total volume equals the volume of acylinder with diameter and length of 1 µm. These values are computed intwo stages by the FROM i=0 TO Nannuli-2 { }loop. The first stage finds the volume of the outer half and the second finds the volume of the inner half of the shell.

 $\label{eq:calibration} The \texttt{frat}array is declared to be \texttt{LOCAL} be cause it applies to all segments that have the \texttt{cadifus} mechanism, but it is unlikely to be of interest to the user and therefore does not need to be visible at the hocle vel. This contrasts with vrat, which is declared as <code>GLOBAL</code> within the <code>NEURON</code> blocks oth at the user can be used. The values <code>frat[i+1]equalA _ i+1 / \Delta r, where</code>$ 

 $A_{i+1}$  is the surface area between shells i and i+1 for  $0 \le i < Nannuli, and \Delta risthedistance between shell centers (radius/(Nannuli-1)).$ 

### The kineticblock

Thefirststatem entinthisblockspecifiestheshellvolumesforthe STATES ca, CaBuffer, and Buffer.Asnotedabovein **Modelingdiffusionwithkineticschemes**, thesevolumesequal theelements of vrat[]multipliedbythesquareofthesegmentdiameter.Becausethis mechanisminvolvesmanycompartmentswhoserelativevolumesarespecifiedbytheelements of anarray, this example takes care of all compartments with a single statement of the form

COMPARTMENT *index*, *volume*[*index*] { *state1state2...* }

where the STATEs that are diffusing a relisted inside the braces.

Nextinthisblockisa LONGITUDINAL\_DIFFUSIONstatement, which specifies that this mechanism includes nonlocal diffusion, i.e. longitudinal diffusion along as section and into connecting sections. The syntax for scalar STATEs is

```
LONGITUDINAL_DIFFUSION flux_expr { state1state2... }
```

where  $flux\_expr$  is the product of the diffusion constant and the cross-sectional area between adjacent compartments. Units of the  $flux\_expr$  must be (micron  $^4$ /ms), i.e. the diffusion constant has units of (micron  $^2$ /ms) and the cross-sectional area has units of (micron  $^2$ ). For cylindrical shell compartments, the cross-sectional area is just the volume per unit length. If the states are arrays then all elements are assumed to diffuse between corresponding volumes in adjacent segments and the iteration variable must be specified as in

LONGITUDINAL\_DIFFUSION index, flux\_expr(index) { state1state2... }

A COMPARTMENT statementisals or equired for the diffusing  $(micron^2)$ , i.e. (micron<sup>3</sup>/micron). STATEs and the units must be

The compactness of LONGITUDINAL\_DIFFUSION specification contrasts nicely with the great deal of trouble imposed on the computational methods used to solve the equations. The standard fixed timestep implicit method, historically the default method used by NEURON, can no longer finds teady states with extremely large (e.g. 10 <sup>9</sup>ms) steps since not every Jacobian element for both flux and current with respect to voltage and concentration is presently accurately computed. The CVODE method works well for the seproblems since it does not allow dt to grow beyond the point of numerical instability. In the presence of the seo ccasional limitation son numerical efficiency, it is satisfying that, as methods evolve to hand let hese problems more robustly, the specification of the models does not change.

Thethirdstatementinthisblockisequivalenttoadifferentialequationthatdescribesthe contribution of transmembrane calcium current to Ca<sup>2+</sup> in the outermost shell. The << signifies an explicit flux. Because of the COMPARTMENT statement, the left hand side of the differential equation is not  $d[Ca^{2+}]_0/dt$  but  $d(total Ca^{2+})$  in the outermost shell) /dt. This is consistent with the right hand side of the equation, which is in units of mass per time.

Next is the kinetic scheme for radial diffusion . The rate constants in this scheme equal the product of DC and the factor frat[] for reasons that we reexplained above in**Modeling diffusion with kinetic schemes**.

Itmaynotbeimmediatelyc learwhytherateconstants in the kinetic scheme for Ca  $^{2+}$  buffering are scaled by the compartment volume dsqvol; however, there as on will be come obvious when one recalls that the COMPARTMENT statement at the beginning of the KINETIC block has converted the units of the dsTATE/dt on the left than dside of the equivalent differential equations from concentration pertimetom as spertime. If there action rate constants we releft unchanged, the right hand side of the differential equations for buffering would have units of concentration pertime, which is inconsistent. Multiplying the rate constants by compartment volume removes this inconsistency by changing the units of the right hand side to mass pertime.

 $\label{eq:calibration} The last statement in the KINETIC block updates the value of calibration ca[0]. This is necessary because in tracellular [Ca^{2+}] is knowned sewhere in NEURON as call, e.g. to other mechanisms and to NEURON's internal routine that computes E Ca. Ca.$ 

Whendevelopinganewm echanismormakingsubstantivechangestoanexisting mechanism, it is generally advisable to check for consistency of units with modlunit. Given the dimensional complexity of this model, such testing is absolutely indispensable.

## Usage

If this mechanismis inserted in a section, the concentrations of Ca <sup>2+</sup> and the free and bound buffer in all compartments will be available through hocas ca\_cadifus[], Buffer\_cadifus[], and CaBuffer\_cadifus[]. These STATEs will also be available for plotting and analysis through the GUI.

The PARAMETERS DCa, k1buf, k2buf, and TotalBufferwillalsobeavailablefor inspectionandmodificationthroughboththegraphicalinterfaceandhocstatements(withthe \_cadifussuffix).All PARAMETERs GLOBALsbydefault ,i.e.theywillhavethesamevalues ineachlocationwherethe cadifusmechanismhasbeeninserted.Thereforeinasenseitis gratuitoustodeclareinthe NEURONblockthat TotalBufferis GLOBAL.However,this declarationdoesservethepurposeofunderscoringthenatureofthisimportantvariablewhichis likelytobechangedbytheuser.

Insomecasesitmightbeusefulforoneormoreofthe PARAMETERstobe RANGEvariables. Forexample, TotalBufferandeven DCaorthebufferrateconstantsmightnotbeuniform throughoutthecell.Tomake TotalBufferand DCa RANGEvariablesonlyrequiresreplacing theline

GLOBAL vrat, TotalBuffer

inthe NEURONblockwith

GLOBAL vrat RANGE TotalBuffer, DCa

The GLOBALvolumefactors vrat[]areavailablethroughhocforinspection, butitis inadvisabletochangetheirvalues because they would likely be inconsistent with the frat[] values and there by cause errors in the simulation.

 $\label{eq:linear} Alloccurrences of this mechanism will have the same number of shells, regardless of the physical diameter of the segments in which the mechanism has been inserted. With Nannuli= 4, the thickness of the outermost shell will be <math>\leq 1 \mu \text{minsegments}$  with  $\dim \leq 6 \mu \text{m}$ . If this spatial resolution is in a dequate, origithe model has segments with larger diameters, then Nannuli may have to be increased. NMODL does not have dynamic arrays , so in order to change the number of shells one must recompile the mechanism after assigning an evalue to Nannuli by editing the NMODL source code.

## Example9:acalciumpump

Thismechanism involves a calcium pump that is based on the reaction scheme outlined in the description of the KINETIC block of **Example7: kinetics cheme for avoltage-gated current** It is a direct extension of the model of calcium diffusion with buffering in **Example8: calcium** diffusion with buffering , the principal difference being that a calcium pumpis present in the cell membrane. The following discussion focuses on the requisite changes in Listing 8, and the operation and use of the resulting new mechanism. For all other details the reader should refer to Example 8.

## The NEURONblock

 $\label{eq:changesinthe NEURONblockaremarkedin bold. The first nontrivial difference from the prior example is that this mechanism READ sthevalue of cao, which is used in the pump reaction scheme.$ 

```
NEURON {
    SUFFIX cdp
    USEION ca READ cao, cai, ica WRITE cai, ica
    RANGE ica_pmp
    GLOBAL vrat, TotalBuffer, TotalPump
}
```

Themechanism WRITEsapumpcurrent thatisattributed to icasothatitstransmembrane Ca<sup>2+</sup>fluxwillbefactoredintoNEURON'scalculationsof[Ca<sup>2+</sup>]<sub>i</sub>.Thiscurrent,whichisa RANGEvariableknownas ica\_pmp\_cdptothehocinterpreter,constitutesanetmovementof positivechargeacrossthecellmembrane,anditfollowstheusualsignconvention(outward currentis"positive").Thepumpcurrenthasadirecteffectonmembranepotential,which, because of the rapidactivation of the pump, ismanifest by a distinct delay of the spike peak and a slight increase of the postspike hyperpolarization.This mechanism could be made electrically "silent" by having it WRITE an equal but opposite NONSPECIFIC current or perhaps a current that involves some other ionic species, e.g. Na<sup>+</sup>, K<sup>+</sup>, or Cl<sup>-</sup>.

Thevariable TotalPumpisthetotaldensityofpumpsitesonthecellmembrane, whether freeoroccupiedbyCa <sup>2+</sup>. Makingit GLOBALmeansthatitisuseradjustable, and that the pumpis assumed to have uniform density where vertheme chanism has been inserted. If local variation is required, this should be RANGE variable.

## TheUNITSblock

Thismechanismincludes the statement (mol) = (1) because the density of pumpsites will be specified in units of (mol/cm2). The term mole cannot be used here because it is already defined in the units database as  $6.022169 \cdot 10^{23}$ .

## Variabledeclarationblocks

### The parameterblock

Fivenewstatementshavebeenaddedbecausethismechanismusestherateconstants of the pumpreactions and the density of pumpsites on the cell membrane.

```
k1 = 1 (/mM-ms)
k2 = 0.005 (/ms)
k3 = 1 (/ms)
k4 = 0.005 (/mM-ms)
: to eliminate pump, set TotalPump to 0 in hoc
TotalPump = 1e-14 (mol/cm2)
```

 $These particular rate constant values were chosen to satisfy two criteria: the pumpinflux and efflux should be equal at [Ca ^2+]=50 nM, and the rate of transport should be slow enough to allow a slight delay in accelerated transport following an action potential that included avoltage gated Ca ^2+ current. The density Total Pumpiss ufficient for the pump to have a marked damping effect on [Ca ^2+]_i transients; low ervalues will reduce the ability of the pump to regulate [Ca ^2+]_i.$ 

## The ASSIGNEDblock

Thesethreeadditionshavebeenmade.

cao	( mM )
ica_pmp	(mA/cm2)
parea	(um)

Thismechanismmakesuseof[Ca <sup>2+</sup>]<sub>o</sub>asaconstant.Thepumpcurrentandthesurfaceareaover whichthepumpisdistributedarealsoclearlynecessary.

## **TheCONSTANTblock**

Consistencyofunits requires explicit mention of an extra cellular volume in the kinetic scheme for the pump.

CONSTANT { volo = 1e10 (um2) }

Thevalueusedhereisequivalenttolliterofextracellularspacepermicronlengthofthecell, buttheactualvalueisirrelevanttothismechanismbecause caowillbetreatedasaconstant. Sincethevalueof voloisnotimportantforthismechanism,thereisnoneedforittobe accessiblethroughhoccommandsortheGUIsoitisnota PARAMETER.Ontheotherhand,there isasenseinwhichitisanintegralpartofthepumpmechanism,whichimpliesthatitwouldnot beappropriatetomake volobea LOCALvariable since LOCALsareintendedfortemporary storage of ``throw away'' values. Finally, the value of \$volow ould never be changed in the course of a simulation. Therefore \$volois de clared in a CONSTANT block .

## The STATEblock

The densities of pumpsites that are free or have bound Ca <sup>2+</sup>, respectively, are represented by the two new STATES

pump (mol/cm2)
pumpca (mol/cm2)

## Equationdefinitionblocks

## The breakpointblock

Thisblockhasoneadditionalstatement

```
BREAKPOINT {
    SOLVE state METHOD sparse
    ica = ica_pmp
}
```

The assignment ica = ica\_pmp is needed to ensure that the pump current is reckoned in NEURON's calculation of  $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ .

## The INITIAL block

Thestatement

parea = PI\*diam

must be included to specify the area per unit length over which the pump is distributed.

Ifitiscorrecttoassumethat[Ca<sup>2+</sup>]<sub>i</sub>hasbeenequalto cai0\_ca\_ion(default=50nM)fora longtime,theinitiallevels of pumpand pumpcacanbesetbyusingthesteady-stateformula

```
pump = TotalPump/(1 + (cai*k1/k2))
pumpca = TotalPump - pump
```

Analternativetothisstyleofinitializationwouldbetoplace

```
ica = 0
SOLVE state STEADYSTATE sparse
```

attheendofthe INITIALblock, where the ica = 0 statement is needed because the kinetic scheme interpret stransmembrane Ca  $^{2+}$  currents as a source of Ca  $^{2+}$  flux. This idiom can be particularly convenient formechanisms whose steady states olutions are difficult or impossible to expression analytical form. As noted in the discussion of the INITIAL block of the previous example (**Example8: calcium diffusion with buffering**), this would require adding a CONSERVE statement to the KINETIC block to insure that the equations that describe the free and bound buffer are independent.

 $\label{eq:boost} Bothof these initializations make the explicit assumption that the net Ca $^{2+} current generated by other sources equals 0, so the net pump current following initialization will also be 0. If this assumption is incorrect, as is almost certainly the case if one or more voltage-gated Ca $^{2+} currents are included in the model, then [Ca $^{2+}]_i will start to change immediately when a simulation is started. Most of ten this will not be what is desired. The proper initialization of a model that contains mechanisms with complex interactions may involve performing an "initialization run" and using SaveStateobjects, as described in the discussion of the INITIAL block of$ **Example 4: avoltage-gated current**.

## The STATEblock

Changesinthisblockaremarkedin **bold**. Thenew COMPARTMENTstatements and the scale factor (le10) are required for dimensional consistency in the pump scheme.

```
KINETIC state {
  COMPARTMENT i, diam*diam*vrat[i] {ca CaBuffer Buffer}
  COMPARTMENT (1e10)*parea {pump pumpca}
  COMPARTMENT volo {cao}
  LONGITUDINAL_DIFFUSION DCa {ca}
  :pump
  ~ ca[0] + pump <-> pumpca (k1*parea*(1e10), k2*parea*(1e10))
  ~ pumpca <-> pump + cao (k3*parea*(1e10), k4*parea*(1e10))
  CONSERVE pump + pumpca = TotalPump * parea * (1e10)
  ica_pmp = 2*FARADAY*(f_flux - b_flux)/parea
  : all currents except pump
  ~ ca[0] << (-(ica - ica_pmp)*PI*diam/(2*FARADAY))</pre>
  FROM i=0 TO Nannuli-2 {
     ~ ca[i] <-> ca[i+1] (DCa*frat[i+1], DCa*frat[i+1])
  }
  dsq = diam*diam
  FROM i=0 TO Nannuli-1 {
     dsqvol = dsq*vrat[i]
     ~ ca[i] + Buffer[i] <-> CaBuffer[i] (k1buf*dsqvol, k2buf*dsqvol)
  }
  cai = ca[0]
}
```

Thepumpreactionstatementsimplementtheschemeoutlinedinthedescriptionofthe KINETICblockof **Example7:kineticschemeforavoltage-gatedcurrent** .Alsoasdescribed inthatsection,the CONSERVEstatement ensuresstrictnumericalconservation,whichishelpful forconvergenceandaccuracy.

 $In the steady state, the net forward flux in the first and second reactions must be equal. Even during physiologically-relevant transients, these flux estracke achother effectively instantaneously. Therefore the transmembrane Ca <math display="inline">^{2+}$  flux generated by the pumpistaken to be the net forward flux in the second reaction. This mechanism  ${\tt WRITESicain order to affect [Ca \ ^{2+}]_i}.$  The total transmembrane Ca  $^{2+}$  flux is the sum of the pump flux and the flux from all other  ${\tt WRITESicain order to a flux is the sum of the pump flux and the flux from all other {\tt Second Second$ 

sources. Thus to make sure that  $ica_pmp$  is not counted twice, it is subtracted from total Ca current ica in the expression that relates Ca  $^{2+}$  current to Ca  $^{2+}$  flux.

#### Usage

The STATEs and PARAMETERs that are available through hoc and the GUI are directly analogous to those of the cadifus mechanism, but they will have the suffix \_\_cdprather than \_\_cadifus. The additional pump variables \_pump\_cdp, pump ca\_cdp, ica\_pmp\_cdp, and Total Pump\_cdp will also be available and are subject to similar concerns and constraints as the ircounterparts in the diffusion reactions (see Usage in Example 7: kinetic scheme for a voltage-gated current ).

## Modelswithdiscontinuities

#### Discontinuities in parameters

Inthepast, abrupt changes in PARAMETERs and ASSIGNED variables, such as the sudden change incurrent injection during a current pulse, have been implicitly assumed to take place on a time step boundary. This is in a dequate with variable time step methods because it is unlikely that a time step boundary will correspond to the onset and offset of the pulse. Worse, the time step may belonger than the pulse itself, which may thus be entirely ignored.

Forthesereasons, amodel description must explicitly notify NEURON, via the at time() function, of the times at which any discontinuities occur. The statement at time(*event time*) guaranteesthat, during simulation with a variable timestep method, as tadvancespast event time, the integrator will reduce the stepsizes othat it completes at  $t = event time - \varepsilon$ , where  $\varepsilon \sim 10^{-9}$  ms. Thenext stepresets the integrator to first order, thereby discarding any previous solution history, and immediately returns after computing all the  $dy_i/dt$  at t= event\_time+  $\epsilon$ .Thisishowthebuilt-incurrentclampmodel IClampnotifiesNEURONofthe timeofonsetofthepulseanditsoffset(seethe BREAKPOINTblockof Example3:an intracellularstimulatingelectrode ).Notethat at\_time()returnsavalueof1("true")only during the "infinitesimal" step that ends at t= event\_time+  $\varepsilon$ ;otherwiseitreturns0.

Duringavariabletimestep simulation, amissing at\_time()callmaycauseoneoftwo symptoms. If a PARAMETER changes but returns to its original value within the same interval, the pulse may be entirely missed. Moreoften a single discontinuity will take place within a time tep interval, in which case what seems like a binary search will start for the location of the discontinuity in order to satisfy the error to lerance on the step; this, of course, is very inefficient.

Timedependent PARAMETERchangesatthehocinterpreterlevelarehighlydiscouraged becausetheycannotcurrentlybeproperlycomputedinthecontextofvariabletimesteps.For instance,withfixedtimesteps itwasconvenienttochange PARAMETERspriorto fadvance() calls,asin

```
proc advance() {
    IClamp[0].amp = imax*sin(w*t)
    fadvance()
}
```

 $2^{+}$ 

Withvariabletimestep methods, all time-dependent changes must be described explicitly in a model, in this case with

```
BREAKPOINT { i = imax*sin(w*t) }
```

Afutureversion of NEURON may provide a facility to specify time dependent and discontinuous PARAMETER changess a fely at the hocle velint he context of variable timestep methods.

## **Discontinuitiesin STATES**

Somekindsofsynapticmodels processanevent asadiscontinuityinoneormoreoftheir STATEvariables .Forexample,asynapsewhoseconductancefollowsthetimecourseofanalpha function(formoredetailaboutthealphafunctionitselfseeRall (1977)andJacketal. (1983)) canbeimplementedasakineticschemeinthetwostatemodel

```
KINETIC state {
    ~ a <-> g (k, 0)
    ~ g -> (k)
}
```

whereadiscretesynapticeventishandledasanabruptincreaseof STATE a. This formulation has the attractive property that it can handle multiplest reams of events with different weights, so that gwill be the sum of the individual alpha functions with the irappropriate on sets.

However, because of the special nature of states invariable timestep ODE solvers, it is necessary not only to not if yNEURON about the time of the discontinuity with the at\_time(onset) call, but also to not if yNEURON about any discontinuities in STATES. If onset is the time of the synaptic event and gmax is the desired maximum conductance change, this would be accomplished by including state\_discontinuity() call in the BREAKPOINT block as follows:

```
BREAKPOINT {
    if (at_time(onset)) {
        : scale factor exp(1) = 2.718... ensures
        : that peak conductance will be gmax
        state_discontinuity(a, a + gmax*exp(1))
    }
    SOLVE state METHOD sparse
    i = g*(v - e)
}
```

Thefirstargumenttostate\_discontinuity() will be assigned the value of its secondargumentjustonce for any time step. This is important, since for several integration methodsBREAKPOINT assignments tatements are often executed twice to calculate thedi/dv terms of theJacobian matrix.

Althoughthissynaptic model works well with deterministic stimulus trains, it is difficult for the user to supply the administrative hoccode form an agging the onset and gmax variables to take advantage of the promise of "multiplest reams of events with different weights." The most important problem is how to save events that have significant delay between the irgeneration and

theirhandlingattime onset.Asis,aneventcanbepassedtothismodelbyassigningvaluesto onsetand gmaxonlyafterthepreviousonseteventhasbeenhandled.

Discussion of the details of how NEURON now treats streams of synaptic events with arbitrary delays and weights is beyond the scope of this paper. Let its uffice that from the local view of the postsynaptic model, the state discontinuity should no longer behandled in the BREAKPOINT block, and the above synaptic model is more properly written in the form

```
BREAKPOINT {
    SOLVE state METHOD sparse
    i = g*(v - e)
}
NET_RECEIVE(weight (microsiemens)) {
    state_discontinuity(a, a + weight*exp(1))
}
```

inwhicheventdistributionishandledinternally fromaspecificationofnetworkconnectivity(see nextsection).

## Generalcommentsaboutsynapticmodels

Theexamplessofarhavebeenofmechanismsthatare"local"inthesensethataninstanceof amechanismataparticularlocationonthecelldependsonlyon STATEsand PARAMETERsofthe model *atthatlocation* .Ofcoursetheynormallydependonvoltageandionicvariablesaswell, butthesealsoare *atthatlocation* andautomaticallyavailabletothemodel.Synapticmodels have anessentialdistinguishingcharacteristicthatsetsthemapart:inordertoproperlycomputetheir contributiontomembranecurrentatthepostsynapticsite,theyrequireinformationfromanother place,e.g.presynapticvoltage.Modelsthatcontain LONGITUDINAL\_DIFFUSIONareperhaps alsoanexception,buttheirdependenceonadjacentcompartmentionconcentrationishandled automaticallybythetranslator .

Inthepast,modeldescriptionscouldonlyuse POINTERvariables toobtaintheirpresynaptic information.A POINTERinNMODLholdsareferencetoanothervariable;thespecificreference isdefinedbyahocstatement suchas

```
setpointer postcell.synapse.vpre, precell.axon.v(1)
```

inwhich vpreisa POINTER, declared in the indicated POINT\_PROCESS synapse instance, which references the value of a specific membrane voltage, in this case at the distalend of the presynaptic axon. Gapjunctions or ephaptic synapses can be handled by a pair of POINT\_PROCESS eson the two sides of the junction that point to each other's voltage, as in

```
section1 gap1 = new Gap(x1)
section2 gap2 = new Gap(x2)
setpointer gap1.vpre, section2.v(x2)
setpointer gap2.vpre, section1.v(x1)
```

Thiskindofdetailedpiecingtogetherofindividualcomponentsisacceptableformodels with onlyafewsynapses, butlargernetworkmodels haverequiredconsiderableadministrative effort fromusers to 1) create mechanisms that handle synaptic delay, 2) exploit very great simulation efficiencies available with simplified models of synapses, and 3) maintain information about the connectivity of the network.

The experience of NEURON users—especially Alain Destexheand William Lytton—in creating special models and procedures form an aging network simulation shas been incorporated in an ewbuilt-innetwork connection ( NetCon) class , whose instances manage the delivery of presynaptic threshold events to post synaptic POINT\_PROCESSes. It is very important to note that the NetConclass works for all NEURON integrators, including alocal variable timestep method inwhich each cell is integrated with a timestep appropriate to the state changes occurring in that cell. With this event delivery system , model descriptions of synapses never need to queue events, and they do not have to make heroic efforts to work properly with variable timestep methods. These features offere normous convenience to the user.

NetConconnectsapresynapticvariablesuchasvoltagetoasynapsewitharbitrary (individuallyspecifiedonaper NetConinstance)delayandweight .Ifthepresynapticvariable passesthresholdattime t,aspecial NET\_RECEIVEprocedure inthepostsynaptic POINT\_PROCESSiscalledattime t + delay.Theonlyconstrainton delayisthatitbe nonnegative.Eventsalwaysarriveatthepostsynapticobjectattheinterval delayafterthetime theyweregenerated,andthereisnolossofeventsunderanycircumstances.

Thisnewclassalsoreduces the computational burden of network simulations, because the event delivery system for NetConobjects supports unlimited fan-in and fan-out (convergence and divergence). That is, many NetConobjects can be connected to the same post synaptic POINT\_PROCESS (fan-in). This yields large efficiency improvements be cause a single set of equations for synaptic conductance change can be shared by many streams of inputs (one input stream perconnecting NetConinstance). Likewise, many NetConobjects can be connected to the same presynaptic variable (fan-out), thus providing additional efficiency improvements ince the presynaptic variable (fan-out), thus providing additional efficiency improvements ince the presynaptic variable is checked only once pertimestep and, when it crosses threshold in the positive direction, events are generated for each connecting NetConobject. The next example shows how a NetConobject might be used to establish the connection between two model neurons.

## Example10:synapsewithexponentialdecay

The simple stuse fully napse consists of an abrupt change in conductance, triggered by arrival of an event, which then decays with a single time constant . We imagine not only that the conductance summates whenevents arrive from different places, but that a single stream of events will also summate. The following model handles both these situations by defining a single conductance stategy which is governed by a differential equation with the solution  $g(t) = g(t_0)e^{(t-t_0)/\tau}$  where  $g(t_0)$  is the conductance at the time of the most recent event.

```
: expsyn.mod
NEURON {
     POINT_PROCESS ExpSyn
     RANGE tau, e, i
     NONSPECIFIC CURRENT i
}
PARAMETER {
     tau = 0.1 (ms)
     e = 0 (millivolt)
}
ASSIGNED {
     v (millivolt)
     i (nanoamp)
}
STATE { g (microsiemens) }
INITIAL \{ g = 0 \}
BREAKPOINT {
     SOLVE state METHOD cnexp
     i = g^*(v - e)
}
DERIVATIVE state { g' = -g/tau }
NET_RECEIVE(weight (microsiemens)) {
     state_discontinuity(g, g + weight)
}
```

Listing9. expsyn.mod

## The NET\_RECEIVEblock

Thenewfeature in this model is the NET\_RECEIVE block, which is called by the NetCon event delivery system when an event arrives at this post synaptic point process. In this case the value of the weight is specified by the particular NetConobject delivering the event, and this value increments the conductance state.

Asnotedabovein **Discontinuitiesin STATES**, state\_discontinuity()mustbecalledif discontinuous STATEchangesaretoworkproperlywiththevariabletimestep methods.Thefirst argumentof state\_discontinuity()isinterpretedasareferencetothe STATE.andthe secondargumentisanexpressionforitsnewvalue.Ifthevariabletobechangedisnota STATE variable, then it is safetospecify its new value with an ordinary assignments tatement (see Example12:Use-dependentsynaptic plasticity below).Justbeforeentryto NET\_RECEIVE withaneventtobedeliveredattime t,all STATES, v.andvaluesassignedinthe BREAKPOINT blockareconsistentattime t.

## Usage

Suppose we wanted to set up an ExpSyn synaptic connection between the two cells portrayed in Fig. 10. This could be done with the following hoccode, which also illustrates the use of a Listof NetConobjects as a means for keeping track of the synaptic connections in a network





```
// the network will be represented
    by a list of NetCon objects
11
objref ncl
ncl = new List()
// make an ExpSyn point process called syn
11
    that is located on cell[5]
11
     just to one side of the midpoint of dend[3]
objref syn
cell[5].dend[3] syn = new ExpSyn(0.3)
// cell[20].axon.v(1) is voltage at the presynaptic site
// connect the presynaptic cell to the ExpSyn instance syn
// via a new NetCon object
// and add the NetCon object to the list ncl
cell[20].axon ncl.append(new NetCon(&v(1), \
  syn, threshold, delay, weight)
```

Figure11showsgraphssavedfromasimulation oftwoinputstreamsconvergingontopostsynaptic cell.Thetopgraphindicatesthepresynapticfiring times(traceslabeled precell[0]and precell[1]).Theconductanceofthe ExpSyn mechanismandthemembranepotentialofthe postsynapticcellareshowninthemiddleand bottomgraphs.Forthisexample,thedecaytime constantforthesynapticconductancehasbeen arbitrarilysetto3ms.Temporalsummationis evidentinthesynapticconductanceandpostsynaptic membranepotentialforinputswithinanindividual streamandbetweeninputsonmultiplestreams.



Figure11

## Example11:alphafunctionsynapse

Itisasimplemattertoextend ExpSyntoimplementanalphafunctionsynapse byreplacing the differential equation with the two state kineticscheme.

```
STATE { a (microsiemens) g (microsiemens) }
KINETIC state {
        ~ a <-> g (1/tau, 0)
        ~ g -> (1/tau)
}
```

andchangingthediscontinuitystatement to

```
state_discontinuity(a, a + weight*exp(1))
```

The factor exp(1) = e is included so that an isolated event produces a peak conductance of magnitude weight, which occurs at the tau after the event. Since this mechanism involves a KINETIC block instead of a DERIVATIVE block, the integration methods pecified by the SOLVE statement must be changed from cnexpto sparse.

The extra computational complexity of using a kinetic scheme is offset by the fact that, no matterhowmany NetConstreams connecttothismodel, the computation time required to integrate STATE gremainsconstant. Theonly extratime is the potentially greater number of calls tothe NET\_RECEIVEblock , which is called only whenevents are to be delivered .Thisillustrates averyusefultacticwhichwillreappearinsubsequentmodels:alwaysmoveasmuch computationalcomplexityaspossiblefromtemporalintegrationblocks( DERIVATIVEOr KINETICblocks)tothe NET\_RECEIVEblock .Thepotentialbenefits are very large, since BREAKPOINTand SOLVEblocksareexecuted—sometimesrepeatedly—ateachtimestep, whereasstatementsinthe NET\_RECEIVEblockareexecutedonlyonceperdeliveredevent. Indeed, with NEURON's variable timestep methods it is possible to carry outwhat are essentially discrete events imulations , in which dtisal ways the interval between events. Since moststepsreducetoaninterpolationstepfollowedbyasingleODEfunctionevaluation, this reduces the timestep integration overhead to a fraction of a normal single integration stepper event.

Some increase of efficiency can be gained by recasting the kinetic scheme as two linear differential equations

```
DERIVATIVE state {
    a' = -a/taul
    b' = -b/tau
    g = b - a
}
```

which are solved efficiently by the cnexp method. As taulapproaches tau from below, g approaches an alpha function (although the factor by which weight must be multiplied approaches infinity). Also, there are now two stated is continuities in the NET\_RECEIVE block

state\_discontinuity(a, a + weight\*factor)
state\_discontinuity(b, b + weight\*factor)

## Example12:Use-dependentsynapticplasticity

Herethealphafunctionsynapseisextendedtoimplementaformofuse-dependentsynaptic plasticity. Eachpresynaptic eventinitiatestwodistinctprocesses: directactivation of ligand-gated channels, which causes a transient conductance change, and activation of a mechanism that inturn can have a modulatory effect on the conductance change produced by successive synaptic activations. Herewe presume that synaptics trengthismodulated by the postsynaptic increase of a second messenger , which we will call "Gprotein" for illustrative purposes. We must point out that this example is entirely hypothetical, and that it is quited ifferent from models described by others (Destex heand Sejnowski 1995) in which the Gprotein its elfgates the ionic channels.

In this mechanismit is essential to distinguisheach stream into the generalized synapse, since each stream has to maintain its own [G] (concentration of activated G protein). That is, streams are independent of each other interms of the effect on [G], but their effects on synaptic conductances how linear superposition .

```
: gsyn.mod
NEURON {
  POINT PROCESS GSyn
  RANGE tau1, tau2, e, i
  RANGE Gtau1, Gtau2, Ginc
  NONSPECIFIC_CURRENT i
  RANGE q
}
UNITS {
  (nA)
         = (nanoamp)
  (mV) = (millivolt)
  (umho) = (micromho)
}
PARAMETER {
  tau1 = 1 (ms)
  tau2 = 1.05
                    (ms)
  Gtau1 = 20
                (ms)
  Gtau2 = 21
                 (ms)
  Ginc
         = 1
  е
        = 0
                (mV)
}
ASSIGNED {
  v (mV)
  i (nA)
  q (umho)
  factor
  Gfactor
}
```

```
STATE {
  A (umho)
  B (umho)
}
INITIAL {
  LOCAL tp
  A = 0
  B = 0
  tp = (tau1*tau2)/(tau2 - tau1) * log(tau2/tau1)
  factor = -exp(-tp/tau1) + exp(-tp/tau2)
  factor = 1/factor
  tp = (Gtau1*Gtau2)/(Gtau2 - Gtau1) * log(Gtau2/Gtau1)
  Gfactor = -exp(-tp/Gtau1) + exp(-tp/Gtau2)
  Gfactor = 1/Gfactor
}
BREAKPOINT {
  SOLVE state METHOD cnexp
  q = B - A
   i = g^*(v - e)
}
DERIVATIVE state {
  A' = -A/tau1
  B' = -B/tau2
}
NET_RECEIVE(weight (umho), w, G1, G2, t0 (ms)) {
  G1 = G1 + exp(-(t-t0)/Gtau1)
  G2 = G2 \exp(-(t-t0)/Gtau2)
  G1 = G1 + Ginc*Gfactor
  G2 = G2 + Ginc*Gfactor
  t0 = t
  w = weight*(1 + G2 - G1)
  state_discontinuity(A, A + w*factor)
  state_discontinuity(B, B + w*factor)
}
```

Listing10. gsyn.mod

 $\label{eq:gamma} The conductance of the ligand-gatedion channel uses the differ $$ ential equation approximation $$ for an alpha function synapse. The peak synaptic conductance depends on the value of [G] at the moment of synaptic activation. A similar, albeit much slower, alpha function approximation $$ describes the time course of [G]. These processes peak approximately tauland Gtaulafter $$ delivery of an event, respectively. $$ tauland Gtaulafter $$ taulafter $$ taula$ 

 $\label{eq:constraint} The peak synaptic conductance of an active NetConisspecified in the NET_RECEIVE block, where w = weight*(1 + G2 - G1) describes how the effective weight of the synapse is modified by [G]. Even though conductance is integrated, [G] is needed only at discrete event times so it can be computed analytically from the elapsed times ince the prior synaptic activation.$ 

The INITIALblock performs the tedious task of setting up the factors which are needed to make the peak changes equal to the values of wand Ginc.

Note that Gland G2donotneeda state\_discontinuity()to change them because they are not STATEs in this mechanism. They are not even variables in this mechanism, but instead are "owned" by the particular NetConinstance that delivered the event.

A NetConobject instancekeepsanarrayofsizeequaltothenumberofargumentsto NET\_RECEIVE, and the arguments on NET\_RECEIVE are really references to the elements of this array. The fact that the arguments are "call by reference," instead of the normal "call by value," is what allows this model to work: it allows assignments taken the met consistent of the normal segment to the normal segment to the term of term of term of the term of term

## Example13:saturatingsynapses

Severalauthors(e.g.Destexheetal. (1994a),Lytton (1996))havefounditusefulto approximateawiderangeofsynapticbehaviorbyexplicitlyparameterizingtheconductance changeasasingletimeconstantonsetwithspecificduration(Cdur,interpretedasthedurationof atransmitterpulse)followedbyaseparatetimeconstantoffset.Theconductancechangeselicited byseparatestreamssummate,whereasrepetitiveimpulsesononestreamproduceasaturating conductancechange(steadystateforalongonsettime) .Weresolvetheambiguityofwhattodo whenmultiplespikesarriveonasinglestreamduringtheCduronsetofanearlierspike(i.e. ignore,concatenateCdurtomakethetransmitterpulselongerwithoutincreasingits concentration,orsummatethetransmitter)bychoosingconcatenation .Summationoftransmitter isoutsidethescopeoftheDestexhe/Lyttonmodelsincethatformulationdemandsidenticalonset timeconstantsforallconductancechangesandtheonsettimeconstantisproportionalto transmitterconcentration.

 $\label{eq:Althoughtheideaofsaturation can be captured with a mode loftheform used in the previous example, these parateons et/offset formulation requires keeping track of how much "material" in each stream is in the offset or on sets tate. The wrink lehere is that when an event arrive sattimet to start an onset, another event must be generated to occur attimet + C durt ost art turning it off. To complicate matters further, other spikes on the same input line (same NetCon) may arrive before t+C dur, which means that the offset event at t+C durs hould be ignored. The only time an offset event takes effect is if no other spikes occurred in the previous C durint erval.$ 

TheNMODLimplementationforthismechanismisgiveninListing11.

```
: ampa.mod
NEURON {
    POINT_PROCESS AMPA_S
    RANGE R, g
    NONSPECIFIC_CURRENT i
    GLOBAL Cdur, Alpha, Beta, Erev, Rinf, Rtau
}
```

#### HinesandCarnevale:ExpandingNEURONwithNMODL

```
UNITS {
  (nA) = (nanoamp)
(mV) = (millivolt)
  (umho) = (micromho)
  (mM) = (milli/liter)
}
PARAMETER {
  Cdur = 0.3 (ms) : transmitter duration (rising phase)
Alpha = 0.94 (/ms) : forward (binding) rate
  Beta = 0.18 (/ms) : backward (dissociation) rate
  Erev = 0 (mV) : equilibrium potential
}
ASSIGNED {
  v (mV) : postsynaptic voltage
  i (nA) : current = g*(v - Erev)
g (umho) : conductance
  Rinf : steady state channels open
  Rtau (ms) : time constant of channel binding
  synon
}
STATE { Ron Roff } : initialized to 0 by default
INITIAL {
  Rinf = Alpha / (Alpha + Beta)
  Rtau = 1 / (Alpha + Beta)
  synon = 0
}
BREAKPOINT {
  SOLVE release METHOD cnexp
  g = (Ron + Roff)*1(umho)
  i = g^*(v - Erev)
}
DERIVATIVE release {
  Ron' = (synon*Rinf - Ron)/Rtau
  Roff' = -Beta*Roff
}
```

```
: on initialization, all arguments after the first one
:
   are set to 0
NET_RECEIVE(weight, on, nspike, r0, t0 (ms)) {
  : flag is an implicit argument of NET_RECEIVE, normally 0
  if (flag == 0) {
     : a spike, so turn on if not already in a Cdur pulse
     nspike = nspike + 1
     if (!on) {
           r0 = r0 * exp(-Beta*(t - t0))
           t0 = t
           on = 1
           synon = synon + weight
           state_discontinuity(Ron, Ron + r0)
           state discontinuity(Roff, Roff - r0)
     }
     : come again in Cdur with flag = current value of nspike
     net_send(Cdur, nspike)
  if (flag == nspike) {
     : if this associated with last spike then turn off
     r0 = weight*Rinf + (r0 - weight*Rinf)*exp(-(t - t0)/Rtau)
     t0 = t
     synon = synon - weight
     state discontinuity(Ron, Ron - r0)
     state_discontinuity(Roff, Roff + r0)
     on = 0
   }
}
```

## Listing11. ampa.mod

Detailsofsaturatingmechanisms *perse* arecoveredbyDestexheetal. (1994a;1994b) and Lytton (1996). Herewefocuson how the NET RECEIVEblockisusedtomanagemultipleinput streams. Anonsetevent , generated by the system when the connecting NetCon'ssourcepassed threshold t - delayago, always has an implicit argument called flagwhichissetto0andis callbyvalue asopposedtotheexplicitarguments, which are "callbyreference." The nspike variablecountsthespikesthathavetakenplaceontheindividual NetConlines.Aspikeonset event(flag=0)resultsina net send()call,whichwillgenerateaneventwithdelaygivenby the first argument and flag value given by the second argument. All the explicit arguments will havethevalueofthisparticular NetCon, and therefore flagwillonly match nspikewhen thereisnointerveningspikeevent(onthis NetConline).

## **DISCUSSION**

Themodeldescriptionframeworkhasproventobeauseful,efficient,andflexiblewayto implementcomputationalmodelsofbiophysicalmechanisms.Theleverage thatNMODL providestotheuserisamplifiedbyitsplatform-independence,sinceitrunsintheMacOS, MSWindows,andUNIX/Linuxenvironments.Anotherimportantfactorisconsistencyofhigh-levelsyntax,whichallowsittoincorporateadvancesinnumericalmethodsinawaythatis transparenttotheuser.

NMODL continues to undergorevision and improvement in response to the evolving needs of computational neuroscience, particularly in the domain of empirically-based modeling. One recent example of the extension of NMODL to encompass new kinds of mechanisms is longitudinal diffusion. Another is kinetic schemes in a form that can be interpreted as Markov processes (Colquhoun and Hawkes 1981) , i.e. linear schemes, which are now translated into single channel models. By removing arbitrary limits related to programming complexity, such advances give NEURON the ability to accommodate insights derived from new experimental findings, and enable modeling to keep pace with the broad are na of "wet-lab" neuroscience.

# ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Thisworkwassupported in part by NIH grant NS11613. We wish to thank John Moore for inspiration and encouragement, Alain Destexheand William Lytton for invaluable contributions to the convenient and efficient simulation of networks, Ragnhild Halvorsrud for helpful suggestions regarding this manuscript, and the many users of NEURON who have provided in dispensable feedback, presented challenging problems that have stimulated new advances in the program, and developed the irow nenhancements.

# REFERENCES

- Colquhoun, D. and Hawkes, A.G. On the stochastic properties of single ion channels. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London Series B* 211:205-235, 1981.
- Destexhe, A., Mainen, Z.F., and Sejnowski, T.J. An efficient method for computing synaptic conductances based on a kinetic model of receptor binding. *Neural Computation* 6:14-18, 1994a.
- Destexhe, A., Mainen, Z.F., and Sejnowski, T.J. Synthesis of models for excitable membranes, synaptic transmission, and neuromodulation using a common kinetic formalism. *J. Comput. Neurosci*. 1:195-231, 1994b.
- Destexhe, A. and Sejnowski, T.J.G-proteinactivation kinetics and spillover of γ-aminobutyric acid may account for differences between inhibitory responses in the hippocampus and thalamus. *Proc.Nat.Acad.Sci.* 92:9515-9519,1995.
- Durand, D. Thesomaticshuntcablemodel forneurons. *Biophys. J.* 46:645-653,1984.
- Frankenhaeuser, B. and Hodgkin, A.L. Theafter-effects of impulses in the giant nervefibers of *Loligo. J. Physiol.* 131:341-376, 1956.
- Hines, M.Efficient computation of branched nerve equations. *Int.J.Bio-Med.Comput.* 15:69-76,1984.
- Hines, M. Aprogram for simulation of nerve equations with branching geometries. *Int. J. Bio-Med. Comput.* 24:55-68, 1989.
- Hines, M.NEURON—aprogramforsimulation of nervee quations. In: *Neural Systems: Analysis and Modeling*, edited by F.Eeckman. Norwell, MA: Kluwer, 1993, p. 127-136.
- Hines, M. The NEURON simulation program. In: *Neural Network Simulation Environments*, edited by J. Skrzypek. Norwell, MA: Kluwer, 1994, p. 147-163.
- Hines, M.and Carnevale, N.T. Computer modeling methods for neurons. In: *The Handbook of Brain Theory and Neural Networks*, edited by M.A. Arbib. Cambridge, MA: MITPress, 1995, p. 226-230.
- Hines, M.L. and Carnevale, N.T. The NEURON simulation environment. *Neural Computation* 9:1179-1209, 1997.
- Jack, J.J.B., Noble, D., and Tsien, R.W. *ElectricCurrentFlowinExcitableCells* .London: OxfordUniversityPress, 1983.
- Johnston, D. and Wu, S.M.-S. *Foundations of Cellular Neurophysiology* .Cambridge, MA:MIT Press, 1995.
- Kohn, M.C., Hines, M.L., Kootsey, J.M., and Feezor, M.D. Ablockorganized model builder. *Mathematical and Computer Modelling* 19:75-97, 1994.
- Kootsey, J.M., Kohn, M.C., Feezor, M.D., Mitchell, G.R., and Fletcher, P.R.SCoP: an interactive simulation control program formicro-and minicomputers. *Bulletinof Mathematical Biology* 48:427-441, 1986.
- Lytton, W.W.Optimizingsynaptic conductance calculation for network simulations. *Neural Computation* 8:501-509,1996.
- McCormick, D.A. Membrane properties and neurotransmitter actions. In: *The Synaptic Organization of the Brain*, edited by G.M. Shepherd. New York: Oxford University Press, 1998, p. 37-75.

Moczydlowski,E.andLatorre,R.GatingkineticsofCa <sup>2+</sup>-activatedK <sup>+</sup>channelsfromrat muscleincorporatedintoplanarlipidbilayers. *JournalofGeneralPhysiology* 82:511-542, 1983.

Oran, E.S. and Boris, J.P. *Numerical Simulation of Reactive Flow* .New York: Elsevier, 1987.

- Rall,W.Coreconductortheoryandcablepropertiesofneurons.In: *HandbookofPhysiology*, *vol.1,part1:TheNervousSystem* ,editedbyE.R.Kandel.Bethesda,MD:American PhysiologicalSociety,1977,p.39-98.
- Staley, K.J., Otis, T.S., and Mody, I. Membrane properties of dentate gyrus granule cells: comparison of sharp microelectrode and whole-cell recordings. *J. Neurophysiol.* 67:1346-1358, 1992.
- Wilson, M.A. and Bower, J.M. Thesimulation of large scale neural networks. In: Methodsin NeuronalModeling , edited by C. Kochand I. Segev. Cambridge, MA: MITPress, 1989, p. 291-333.
- Yamada, W.M., Koch, C., and Adams, P.R. Multiplechannelsandcalciumdynamics. In: *MethodsinNeuronalModeling*, editedby C.Kochand I.Segev. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press, 1989, p.97-133.

'(apostrophe) *See*DERIVATIVEblock:'(apostrophe)

# INDEX

```
:(inlinecomment)5
<<(explicitflux) SeeKINETICblock:<<
<->(reactionindicator)
                      SeeKINETICblock:<->
                         SeeKINETICblock:->
->(sinkreactionindicator)
~(tilde) SeeKINETICblock:~
abruptchanges Seediscontinuities
absolutetolerance Seevariabletimestep:tolerance
accuracy
   first-order18.33
   second-order18,35
   variableorder17. SeeCVODE, variable timestep
adaptivetimestep Seevariabletimestep
alphafunctionsynapse SeeExample11:alphafunctionsynapse
ampa.mod SeeExample13:saturatingsynapses
array
   of arguments for NetCon(network connection) class 56
arrays
   inNMODLarenotdynamic39,43
   indexstartsat039
   STATEvariable34
ASSIGNEDblock7
ASSIGNEDvariable7
                                Seediscontinuities: in ASSIGNED or PARAMETER
   abruptchangeordiscontinuity
          variables
   GLOBAL
      localvalue23,24
      spatialvariation23,24
   GLOBALvs.RANGE8,22,23,24
   visibilityatthehoclevel8,12
   whentouseforequilibriumpotential15
at_time() Seevariabletimestep:at_time()
automatically-createdionicmechanism SeeNEURONblock:USEION:automatically-created
      ionicmechanism
```

b\_flux SeeKINETICblock:b\_flux backwardflux SeeKINETICblock:b flux balance charge6 mass3.6 kineticschemes28 block ASSIGNED SeeASSIGNEDblock BREAKPOINT SeeBREAKPOINTblock COMMENT5 CONSTANT45 DERIVATIVE SeeDERIVATIVEblock equationdefinition4. SeeBREAKPOINT, DERIVATIVE, FUNCTION, INITIAL, KINETIC, PROCEDURE LOCALvariable19 FUNCTION SeeFUNCTIONblock INITIAL SeeINITIALblock KINETIC SeeKINETICblock named4.5 NEURON SeeNEURONblock PARAMETER SeePARAMETERblock PROCEDURE SeePROCEDUREblock variabledeclaration4,7. SeeASSIGNED,PARAMETER,STATE VERBATIM5 BREAKPOINTblock16 abruptchangeordiscontinuity ofaSTATEvariable48.51.53 ofanASSIGNEDorPARAMETERvariable Seevariabletimestep:at time() and computations that must be performed only once pertimestep 16,48 andcounts, flags, and random variables 16 andPROCEDUREs16 andratefunctions16 at\_time() Seevariabletimestep:at\_time() currents16 maincomputationblock8 METHOD SeeSTATEvariable, BREAKPOINTblock: SOLVE SOLVE16.18. SeeSTATEvariable cnexp18,53 derivimplicit18 isnotafunctioncall16 sparse33,53 state discontinuity()48,51,53

## Ccode

embedding SeeVERBATIMblock cadif.mod SeeExample8:calciumdiffusionwithbuffering cagk.mod SeeExample5:acalcium-activatedvoltage-gatedcurrent calciumpump SeeExample9:acalciumpump calcium-activatedcurrent SeeExample5:acalcium-activatedvoltage-gatedcurrent celsius23 chargebalance6 cnexp SeeDERIVATIVEblock, BREAKPOINTblock: SOLVE: cnexp comment block5 inline5 COMMENTblock5 ENDCOMMENT5 conceptualleverage3,58 conservation28,32,33 constant Seeunits vs.PARAMETERorLOCALvariable44 CONSTANTblock45 conversionfactor Seeunits:conversionfactor currentclamp SeeExample3:anintracellularstimulatingelectrode cvode26.41. Seevariabletimestep. SeeCVODE, variabletimestep **DEFINE39** densitymechanisms4,13 DERIVATIVEblock18 '(apostrophe)18 derivimplicit SeeDERIVATIVEblock, BREAKPOINTblock: SOLVE: derivimplicit diffusionwithbuffering SeeExample8:calciumdiffusionwithbuffering Dimensional consistency Seeunits: consistency discontinuities Seevariabletimestep:discontinuities inASSIGNEDorPARAMETERvariables47 inNET\_RECEIVEblockviaassignmentstatement51,56 discreteeventsimulations53 DistributedMechanismManager,Viewer,andInserter *See*graphicaluserinterface distributed mechanisms Seedensity mechanisms dt analyticexpressionsinvolving6 useinNMODL6,8

e electronicchargevs.scalefactor23 electrode intracellularstimulating SeeExample3:anintracellularstimulatingelectrode shuntingeffectofsharpmicroelectrode SeeExample2:alocalizedshunt ephapse49 equilibriumpotential ASSIGNEDvs.PARAMETERvariable15 Eulermethod33 events12.17 andtimestepboundaries12,47. Seefixedtimestep, variable timestep eventdeliverysystem50,51,53,58. SeeNetCon(networkconnection)class,synaptic models STATEvariablediscontinuities48 Example 1:apassive"leak"current4 10:synapsewithexponentialdecay50 11:alphafunctionsynapse53 12:use-dependentsynapticplasticity54 13:saturatingsynapses56 2:alocalizedshunt9 3:anintracellularstimulatingelectrode11 4:avoltage-gatedcurrent13 5:acalcium-activatedvoltage-gatedcurrent20 6:extracellularpotassiumaccumulation24 7:kineticschemeforavoltage-gatedcurrent30 8:calciumdiffusionwithbuffering35 9:acalciumpump43 explicitintegrationmethods33 expsyn.mod *See*Example10:synapsewithexponentialdecay extensivevariable36 extracellularmechanism12 extracellularpotassiumaccumulation SeeExample6:extracellularpotassiumaccumulation

f\_flux SeeKINETICblock:f\_flux fadvance()27,33,47 fcurrent()17 F-Hspace SeeExample6:extracellularpotassiumaccumulation finitialize()13,17. SeeINITIALblock andionicconcentrations27 first-orderaccuracy Seeaccuracy fixedtimestep12,18,47. Seevariabletimestep flux SeeKINETICblock:b\_flux,f\_flux forall24 forwardflux SeeKINETICblock:f\_flux Frankenhaeuser-Hodgkinspace SeeExample6:extracellularpotassiumaccumulation FROM...TO...(loopstatement)40 function SeeFUNCTIONblock name18 nameconflict18 namesuffix18. SeeNEURONblock:SUFFIX referencingaRANGEvariable19 FUNCTIONblock18 setdata\_19 units19 visibilityatthehoclevel18 FUNCTION\_TABLE33,34. SeeKINETICblock gapjunction49 GENESIS3,6 GLOBAL SeeNEURONblock:GLOBAL, and related topics under ASSIGNED and PARAMETERvariables GMODL6 graphicaluserinterface(GUI)7,9,10,11,13

Plotwhat?20,24

gsyn.mod *See*Example12:use-dependentsynapticplasticity

HH-styleioniccurrents18
high-levelspecification3,18,58
kineticscheme30
Hodgkin-Huxleydelayedrectifier SeeExample4:avoltage-gatedcurrent

IClamp *See*Example3:anintracellularstimulatingelectrode iclamp1.mod *See*Example3:anintracellularstimulatingelectrode

```
INITIALblock13.17.56
   andCONSERVEstatementsinKINETICblock33
   SOLVE
      STEADYSTATEsparse33
initialization SeeINITIALblock, finitialize()
   fromt<017
   ion_style()and27
   ionicconcentration27
       defaultvalues27
   ofakineticscheme33
   ofvonacompartment-by-compartmentbasis17
   SaveState/RestoreState17,46
   strategies17
      explicitalgebraicassignmentvs.numericsolutionofakineticscheme40,45
      immobilebuffer40
      initializationrun17,46
      ionicconcentration27
      nonuniforminitialionicconcentration27
integrationmethods SeeBREAKPOINTblock:SOLVE
intensivevariable36
intracellularstimulatingelectrode
                                SeeExample3:anintracellularstimulatingelectrode
ion_style() Seeinitialization:strategies:nonuniforminitialionicconcentration
ionicconcentration
   asaSTATEvariable26
ionicdiffusion
   modelingaskineticscheme28
ionicmechanism
   automatically-created SeeNEURONblock:USEION:automatically-createdionic
          mechanism
Jacobian18,29,33,48
k3st.mod SeeExample7:kineticschemeforavoltage-gatedcurrent
kd.mod SeeExample4:avoltage-gatedcurrent
kext.mod SeeExample6:extracellularpotassiumaccumulation
keywords5
   "e"aselectronicchargevs.scalefactor23
   area6
   ASSIGNED SeeASSIGNEDblock.ASSIGNEDvariable
   at time() Seevariabletimestep:at time()
```

b\_flux SeeKINETICblock:b\_flux

BREAKPOINT SeeBREAKPOINTblock celsius6 cnexp SeeDERIVATIVEblock, BREAKPOINTblock: SOLVE: cnexp COMMENT5 COMPARTMENT SeeKINETICblock:COMPARTMENT CONSERVE SeeKINETICblock:CONSERVE CONSTANT SeeCONSTANTblock cvode SeeCVODE, variable timestep DEFINE39 DERIVATIVE SeeDERIVATIVEblock derivimplicit SeeDERIVATIVEblock, BREAKPOINTblock: SOLVE: derivimplicit diam6 dt Seedt ELECTRODE\_CURRENT SeeNEURONblock:ELECTRODE\_CURRENT ENDCOMMENT5 **ENDVERBATIM5** extracellular12 f flux SeeKINETICblock:f flux fadvance() *See*fadvance() fcurrent() Seefcurrent() forall Seeforall FROM...TO...40 FUNCTION SeeFUNCTIONblock FUNCTION\_TABLE SeeFUNCTION\_TABLE, KINETIC block GLOBAL SeeNEURONblock:GLOBAL, and related topics under ASSIGNED and PARAMETERvariables INITIAL SeeINITIALblock ion\_style() Seeinitialization:ion\_style()and KINETIC SeeKINETICblock LINEAR SeeLINEARblock LOCAL SeeLOCALvariable LONGITUDINAL DIFFUSION SeeKINETICblock:LONGITUDINAL DIFFUSION METHOD SeeBREAKPOINTblock:SOLVE net send() SeeNetCon(networkconnection)class:net send() NetCon SeeNetCon(networkconnection)class NEURON SeeNEURONblock NONLINEAR SeeNONLINEARblock NONSPECIFIC\_CURRENT SeeNEURONblock:NONSPECIFIC\_CURRENT PARAMETER SeePARAMETERblock, PARAMETERvariable POINT\_PROCESS SeeNEURONblock:POINT\_PROCESS POINTER SeePOINTERvariable PROCEDURE SeePROCEDUREblock RANGE SeeNEURONblock:RANGE re init() Seevariabletimestep:cvode.re init() READ SeeNEURONblock:USEION:READ

RestoreState Seeinitialization:SaveState/RestoreState SaveState Seeinitialization:SaveState/RestoreState setdata SeeFUNCTIONblock:setdata setpointer SeePOINTERvariable:setpointer SOLVE SeeBREAKPOINTblock:SOLVE,INITIALblock:SOLVE:STEADYSTATE sparse STATE SeeSTATEblock, STATEvariable STEADYSTATE SeeINITIALblock:SOLVE:STEADYSTATEsparse, initialization SUFFIX SeeNEURONblock:SUFFIX t Seet table SeeFUNCTION TABLE, KINETICblock UNITS SeeUNITSblock USEION SeeNEURONblock:USEION v6 v\_init Seev\_init **VERBATIM5** vext12 WRITE SeeNEURONblock:USEION:WRITE KINETICblock53 <<(explicitflux)41 <->(reactionindicator)28 ->(sinkreactionindicator)48,53 ~(tilde)28 andFUNCTION\_TABLE33. SeeFUNCTION\_TABLE b flux29 COMPARTMENT34,36,41 CONSERVE33,46 requiredforinitialization33 f\_flux29 LONGITUDINAL\_DIFFUSION41 products28 radialdiffusion42 rates28 voltage-sensitive29 reactants28 reactionstatement28 kineticschemes28

leak.mod SeeExample1:apassive"leak"current LINEARblock16 linearODE18 List ofNetConobjects52

## Listing

1.leak.mod SeeExample1:apassive"leak"current 10.gsyn.mod SeeExample12:use-dependentsynapticplasticity 11.ampa.mod *See*Example13:saturatingsynapses 2.shunt.mod SeeExample2:alocalizedshunt 3.iclamp1.mod *See*Example3:anintracellularstimulatingelectrode 4.kd.mod *See*Example4:avoltage-gatedcurrent 5.cagk.mod *See*Example5:acalcium-activatedvoltage-gatedcurrent 6.kext.mod *See*Example6:extracellularpotassiumaccumulation 7.k3st.mod *See*Example7:kineticschemeforavoltage-gatedcurrent 8.cadif.mod *See*Example8:calciumdiffusionwithbuffering 9.expsyn.mod SeeExample10:synapsewithexponentialdecay localerror withvariabletimestep18.39 LOCALvariable19 declaredinsideanequationblock scope19 declaredoutsideanequationblock initialvalue40 scope40 declaredoutsideanequationdefinitionblock scope40 declaredoutsideequationblock vs.GLOBAL40 vs.CONSTANT44 LONGITUDINAL DIFFUSION SeeKINETICblock:LONGITUDINAL DIFFUSION loopstatement(FROM...TO...)40 Markovprocesses28 massbalance6. Seebalance:mass kineticschemes28

microelectrode

intracellularstimulating *See*Example3:anintracellularstimulatingelectrode shuntingeffect *See*Example2:alocalizedshunt

modfile3

changingPARAMETERvariablesin7

MOdelDescriptionLanguage SeeMODL

MODL4

vs.NMODL4,6

modlunit Seeunits:checking

mole

vs.mol44

NationalBiomedicalSimulationResourceproject4

NET\_RECEIVEblock49,53,55 abruptchangeordiscontinuityviaassignmentstatement51,56 arguments56 implicitargumentcalledflag58 inputstreams58 state\_discontinuity()51,53

net\_send() SeeNetCon(networkconnection)class:net\_send()

NetCon(networkconnection)class50

argumentarray56 eventdeliverysystem51,58 inputstreams53,54,56 ListofNetConobjects52 NET\_RECEIVE50 NET\_RECEIVEblock51 net\_send()58 synapticdelayandweight50 networkmodels50. SeeNetCon(networkconnection)class fan-inandfan-out50 increasingcomputationalefficiency53 usingaListofNetConobjectstokeeptrackofsynapticconnections52 NEURONblock6 ELECTRODE\_CURRENT12 GLOBAL6,38 vs.LOCALvariabledeclaredoutsideanequationblock40 GLOBALvs.RANGE10 NONSPECIFIC CURRENT6

POINT\_PROCESS10 RANGE6.12

SUFFIX6

USEION7,15,22

automatically-createdionicmechanism25 defaultinitialionicconcentration27

nonuniforminitialionicconcentration27

READex(readinganequilibriumpotential)15

READix(readinganioniccurrent)26,38

READx(readinganionicconcentration)38,43

WRITEix(writinganioniccurrent)15,43,46

WRITEx(writinganionicconcentration)26,27,38

Newtoniteration33

NMODL SeeNMODL:translator translator3,6,29,34,49 vs.MODL4,6 nocmodl SeeNMODL:translator nocmodl.exe SeeNMODL:translator NONLINEARblock16 nonlinearODE18 PARAMETERblock7 defaultvalues7 specifyingmaxandminvaluesofPARAMETERvariables10 PARAMETERvariable7 abruptchangeordiscontinuity Seediscontinuities:inASSIGNEDorPARAMETER variables changeinmid-run7 globalscopevs.RANGE7 GLOBALvs.RANGE26,42 RANGE12 specifyingmaxandminvalues10 visibilityatthehoclevel7

whentouseforequilibriumpotential15

parentheses Seeunits:conversionfactor

passive"leak"current *See*Example1:apassive"leak"current

pointprocess9,11

PointProcessManagerandViewer Seegraphicaluserinterface

POINTERvariable49

setpointer49

PROCEDUREblock16,24

products28

 $\label{eq:assigned} ASSIGNED or PARAMETER variables as 32$ 

radialdiffusion35,42 RANGEvariable6. SeeRANGEunderNEURONblock,ASSIGNEDvariable,PARAMETER variable ASSIGNEDvariable8 PARAMETERvariable7 ratefunctions callfromtheblockspecifiedbytheSOLVEstatement17 reactants28 ASSIGNEDorPARAMETERvariablesas32
```
reaction
   indicator"<->"28
   products28
      ASSIGNEDorPARAMETERvariablesas32
   rates28
      voltage-sensitive29
   reactants28
      ASSIGNEDorPARAMETERvariablesas32
   sinkindicator"->"48
   sourceorsink33
   statement28
relativetolerance Seevariabletimestep:tolerance
restore() Seeinitialization:SaveState/RestoreState
RestoreState Seeinitialization:SaveState/RestoreState
Runge-Kuttamethod33
saturatingsynapses SeeExample13:saturatingsynapses
SaveState Seeinitialization:SaveState/RestoreState
scalefactor Seeunits:conversionfactor
SCoP4.8.
          SeeMODL
secondmessenger SeeExample12:use-dependentsynapticplasticity
second-orderaccuracy Seeaccuracy
setdata SeeFUNCTIONblock:setdata
shunt.mod SeeExample2:alocalizedshunt
SimulationControlProgram4
simultaneouschemicalreactions
                             Seekineticschemes
sinkreaction
   indicator"->"53
sinkreactionindicator"->"48
SOLVE SeeBREAKPOINTblock:SOLVE,INITIALblock:SOLVE:STEADYSTATEsparse
sparse SeeKINETICblock, BREAKPOINTblock: SOLVE: sparse
STATEblock16
STATEvariable16
   abruptchangeordiscontinuity48
   andCOMPARTMENTstatementinKINETICblock41
   arrav34
   ASSIGNEDvariableas8
   automaticallyaRANGEvariable15,16
   defaultinitialization17
   dependentvs.independent32
```

initialization17 initializationstrategies17 ionicconcentrationas26 Jacobian18 notallreactantsorproductsneedtobe32 notalwaysneeded8,10 ofamechanismvs.statevariableofamodel8 SaveState/RestoreState17 state discontinuity()48,51,53 unknownsinkineticschemes28 vector *See*STATEvariable:array vs.statevariable16,32 STEADYSTATE SeeINITIALblock:SOLVE:STEADYSTATEsparse, initialization stiffness18 suddenchanges Seediscontinuities SUFFIX SeeNEURONblock:SUFFIX synapsewithexponentialdecay SeeExample10:synapsewithexponentialdecay synapticmodels49 ephapse49 essential distinction 49 gapjunction49 NET\_RECEIVE50 NET\_RECEIVEblock51 networks SeeNetCon(networkconnection)class saturation *See*Example13:saturatingsynapses secondmessenger SeeExample12:use-dependentsynapticplasticity STATEvariablediscontinuities48 use-dependent plasticity See Example 12: use-dependent synaptic plasticity

t

independentvariableinNEURON8
useinNMODL8
table\_ SeeFUNCTION\_TABLE,KINETICblock
temparature Seecelsius
tilde SeeKINETICblock:~
tolerance Seevariabletimestep:tolerance

units checking6,7,10,15 consistency7,36 inkineticschemes36,42 conversionfactor10,22,28,39 "e"inexpressions23 disablingchecking19 mole asAvogadro'snumber44 vs.mol44 specification7,15,19 UNITSOFF... UNITSON19 UNITSblock15 (1)39conversionfactor22,39 dimensionlessconstant39 dimensionlessvariable7 UNIXunitsdatabase7.15.22 use-dependentsynaptic plasticity See Example 12: use-dependent synaptic plasticity USEION SeeNEURONblock:USEION v init17,27

variable Seeunits arrays Seearrays ASSIGNED SeeASSIGNEDblock, ASSIGNEDvariable definebeforeuse6.7 dependentindifferential equations8 dependentinkineticschemes8,28 dimensionless7 extensive36 independentvariableinNEURON8 intensive36 ionic7 LOCAL SeeLOCALvariable name5 nameconflict SeeNEURONblock:SUFFIX namesuffix *See*NEURONblock:SUFFIX PARAMETER SeePARAMETERblock, PARAMETERvariable POINTER49 STATE SeeSTATEvariable thatbelongstoaNetConobject56 unknowninsimultaneousequations8,16. *See*STATE variable vector Seearrays

variabletimestep6,12,16,18,30,33,41,47,48,50,51,53. **See**CVODE abruptchangeordiscontinuity ofaSTATEvariable48,51,53 at\_time()12,47,48 cvode.re\_init()17 discontinuities11,12 localerror18,39 localvariabletimestep50 state\_discontinuity()48,51,53 tolerance39 variablesthatareavailabletoallmechanisms6,7,8 vector Seearrays VERBATIMblock5 vext12 voltage-gatedcurrent SeeExample4:avoltage-gatedcurrent calcium-activated SeeExample5:acalcium-activatedvoltage-gatedcurrent kineticscheme SeeExample7:kineticschemeforavoltage-gatedcurrent